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Ireland since 1994

Total Homes  

7,469

4,323
Houses

3,095
Apartments  
and Duplexes

51
Rooms in  
Group Homes

Location Total
Carlow              205 

Cavan 57
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Cork 1,044

Donegal 167

Dublin 2,190
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Kerry 285
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Kilkenny 83
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Monaghan 21

Offaly 76

Roscommon 39

Sligo 141

Tipperary 275

Waterford 203

Westmeath 12

Wexford 185

Wicklow 31
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Section One

Our Achievements 
and Recognition

Supporting 
Community 
Diversity
Clúid provides quality housing and services  
for a diverse range of people across Ireland.  
Our team works closely with residents to  
establish roots, building communities and  
lifelong friendships.
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Home is about the value of 
having somewhere for my kids. 
We don’t know how lucky we 
are to have a home this nice.  
Linda Gillick, Tipperary
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Chairperson’s Statement

2019 was a record year for delivery, 
with 721 good quality homes 
provided to over 2,100 people in 
housing need across Ireland. This 
strong result is a testament to the 
dedication of Clúid’s operational 
team and the excellent partnerships 
the organisation fosters across 
local authorities, the Department 
of Housing, Planning and Local 
Government (DHPLG), the Housing 
Finance Agency (HFA), the Housing 
Agency, local communities, other 
Approved Housing Bodies (AHBs)  
and developers.

2019 provided us with ample 
opportunity to celebrate the success 
that Clúid has enjoyed over the past 
25 years, reminding us at the same 

time that our greatest achievements 
lie ahead. Our organisation has an 
ambitious vision of a society where 
everyone has a great place to live.  
On behalf of the board, I would like to 
commend Clúid’s management team 
for their dedication and commitment 
to this vision over the past 25 years. 
Together with the entire Clúid team, 
we now look forward to the next 
chapter with renewed confidence 
and an acknowledgement that we 
are having a real impact through our 
work. With the recent launch of Clann 

- already Ireland’s largest dedicated 
age-friendly housing provider - Clúid 
will continue to lead the way in 
providing specialist housing solutions 
to people over the age of 55.

As Chair of the Board of Clúid Housing, and 
on behalf of my fellow board members, I am 
pleased to welcome you to the 2019 Annual 
Report. Against a backdrop of continued 
demand for social housing in Ireland, Clúid 
continues to deliver on its mission.

2019 was a record year 
for Clúid. We handed 
over the keys to 721* 
good quality homes, 
supporting over 2,100 
people in housing need 
across Ireland.

18,840
Clúid supported  
over 18,840  
residents across  
Ireland in 2019.

* 2019 saw a year-on-year net increase of 704 units, accounting for several reclassified 
properties. An extra 721 new units were brought into management between January and 
December 2019, with an additional 81 units acquired and undergoing minor repairs.
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Good governance is at the heart 
of Clúid’s business. In 2018, Clúid 
established a new committee-
based governance structure, 
designed to streamline how our 
board operates and to ensure that 
it remains strategically focused. 
This new structure is functioning 
effectively. Throughout 2019, the 
board undertook a number of best 
practice governance activities 
aimed at strengthening our business. 
Identifying areas for improvement 
formed part of this process. This was 
an opportunity for the organisation’s 
leadership to provide feedback on 
the workings of the board and its 
committees. Independent analysis 
of this feedback concluded that 
overall, Clúid’s board is effective and 
functions well.

In August, the board formally 
approved the adoption of our 
amended Memorandum and Articles 
of Association. This action was 
conducted in response to the new 
Governance Standard for Approved 
Housing Bodies, which saw changes 
required by the Companies Act 2014, 
the Charities Regulatory Authority 
and the Revenue Commissioners. 
Changes were also necessary so 
that Clúid would have the requisite 
borrowing powers to access 
alternative, sustainable sources of 
funding in the future.

The board approved the Business 
Plan (2019 – 2022) and a number of 
important strategies in 2019. Our 
Procurement Strategy was approved 
in April. It aims to standardise 
procurement across Clúid and 
increase compliance and efficiency 
in procurement practices. The 
implementation phase of the strategy 
is now well underway and many 
improvements in our procurement 
practices have become standardised 
and embedded. 

In August, the board also approved 
and assumed responsibility for 
ensuring the delivery of Clúid’s 
Value for Money Strategy. In order to 
ensure effective governance of this 
strategy, a number of financial and 
service performance measures have 
undergone review and development 
and will now provide enhanced 
information to the board.

Clúid welcomed, and indeed 
strongly advocated for an important 
regulatory development in 2019. On 
Christmas Day, the President signed 
into law the legislation placing the 
regulation of the AHB sector on a 
statutory footing for the first time. 
Although the Regulator’s Board and 
CEO have yet to be appointed, this 
legislation will not only assist Clúid 
and other AHBs in attracting private 
finance and monitoring the financial 
stability of the sector - it will also 
monitor performance in the provision 
of services and the governance of  
the sector. 

This contrasts disappointingly with 
the lack of progress in reversing the 
CSO’s decision to reclassify Tier 3 
AHBs as being on the government’s 
balance sheet and the slow progress 
being made on a viable model for 
intermediate and affordable rental. 
Clúid continues to advocate for an 
action plan on both of these issues.

As one of Ireland’s leading AHBs, 
Clúid spearheaded the establishment 
of a performance benchmarking group, 
together with the other members of 
the Housing Alliance in 2019. The first 
return for the group focused on 2018 
performance. This was followed by a 
series of review meetings. 

As a business, Clúid acknowledges 
benchmarking as an important tool 
to better understand and improve 
performance and to exchange 
knowledge with other housing 
providers. Internally, Clúid reviewed 

Our organisation has 
an ambitious vision 
of a society where 
everyone has a great 
place to live.
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its Performance Management 
Framework in 2019 with a view 
to ensuring close alignment of 
our measures with the strategic 
objectives of the organisation and 
demonstrating our commitment to 
the Regulation Office’s Performance 
Standard. We have also enhanced 
communication on performance, 
including bi-monthly updates 
to employees and an annual 
performance report for our residents.

Clúid is governed by a voluntary 
board of directors. 2019 marked the 
beginning of my tenure as chair of 
that board. I would like to take this 
opportunity to acknowledge and 
thank both our current and recently 
retired board members for their 
valued contribution and commitment 
to Clúid’s vision. I would especially 
like to thank my predecessor, Fiona 
Barron for her commitment to 
embedding Clúid’s governance 
structures into the very fabric of the 
organisation. Fiona leaves behind a 
legacy that will enable our current 

board, our employees and all our 
partners to continue to deliver on our 
mission. As we look to the future, I 
would also like to welcome our three 
newly appointed board members.

We are currently faced with new 
challenges. The COVID-19 pandemic 
has had an effect on us all and it 
will take time for some of the once 
familiar aspects of daily life to return. 
However, despite the uncertain 
impact of recent restrictions, 
Clúid remains fully committed 
to supporting the government’s 
programme of housing delivery. 
Clúid is a resilient and innovative 
organisation that has resolved many 
challenges in its 25-year history. 
Our employees are dedicated and 
professional and we will endeavour 
to find innovative solutions to the 
immediate challenges that lie ahead.

 
Mark Shakespeare 
Chairperson

Clúid initiated 
the establishment 
of a performance 
benchmarking group 
together with the 
other members of the 
Housing Alliance.

25 years 
Clúid is a resilient and 
innovative organisation  
that has resolved  
many challenges in  
its 25-year history.
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Brian O’Gorman, Chief Executive and 
Eoghan Murphy, The Minister for Housing, 
Planning and Local Government
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Chief Executive’s Statement 

Clúid is the Irish word for ‘the seat 
beside the fire’, vacated for the guest 
or venerable, elderly family member. 
Today, our name is as relevant to our 
work as when we first started out 25 
years ago. As we reflect on 2019,  
a number of highlights stand out  
and remind us of the importance of 
our work. 

Early in the year, Clúid was honoured 
to attend a reception with Uachtarán 
na hÉireann, Micheal D. Higgins and 
his wife, Sabina at Áras an Uachtaráin 
to mark our 25th anniversary. This 
momentous day was undoubtedly 
the highlight of the year for so many 
of our residents and employees. 
Clúid residents from Cork and Clare 
presented a painting and a book of 
poetry as a sign of our appreciation. 
Meanwhile, on the very same day 
in Cork city, Clúid purchased the 
Leeside Apartments, saving a number 
of people from being evicted and 
providing new homes to dozens of 
others. This reminded us that, even as 

we celebrated our past success, there 
is still lots more to be done. 

Clúid’s vision, a society where 
everyone has a great place to live, is 
the driving force behind our mission 
to deliver quality housing and 
services that enable people to create 
homes and thriving communities. Our 
achievements over the past 25 years 
would not have been possible without 
the support of our partners along the 
way. Together with local authorities, 
developers, funders, government 
departments, and agencies, Clúid has 
become one of the leading approved 
housing bodies (AHBs) in Ireland. In 
2019, we celebrated the delivery of 
our 7,000th home and handed over 
the keys to another 721 homes across 
the country.  

For the past 25 years, Clúid has been 
grateful for the support of local and 
national government. With significant 
demand for social housing across 
Ireland, we look forward to continuing 

Through the year-long celebration of our 25th 
anniversary, we had the opportunity to come 
together and reflect on the journey so far.  
This pause for thought also reminded us of  
our commitment to the future housing needs 
of the many people still waiting for a place  
to call home.

A chara,  
2019 was a very 
successful year for 
Clúid Housing. 

7,000
In 2019, we handed  
over the keys to our 
7,000th home.
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this valued partnership. In 2019, our 
team welcomed Eoghan Murphy TD, 
Minister for Housing, Planning and 
Local Government, councillors and 
local authority officials to a number of 
our completed and under construction 
housing developments. This vote 
of confidence in our work is warmly 
welcomed and we take great pride in 
showcasing the homes we deliver in 
partnership with all our stakeholders.

But there are challenges ahead for 
the AHB sector too. Together with 
our Housing Alliance partners, Clúid 
continues to advocate for the reversal 
of the CSO’s decision to reclassify 
AHB debt as government debt. The 
looming economic uncertainty 
following the COVID-19 emergency 
will place unprecedented demand on 
government resources. If Clúid and 
the rest of the sector is to continue 
delivering up to 40% of new housing, 
this issue must be addressed as a 
matter of urgency. 

Affordability also remains an issue for 
many households across the country. 
The introduction of an intermediate 
rental scheme, providing quality, 
secure and affordable housing 
can and will address this need. 
Furthermore, the scheme would aid 
the long-term stability of the housing 
market in Ireland. We look forward to 
working with the government on these 
key issues in the very near future.

Throughout 2019, Clúid continued 
to seek out housing sector expertise 
and best practice learning through 
our network of international partners. 
In October, our organisation was 
honoured to host the European 
Federation for Living (EFL) and its 
members at their autumn conference. 
The theme of the symposium was 
High Density Urban Living in Europe. 
Attended by academics and housing 
sector professionals from across the 
continent, the two-day event was an 
excellent opportunity for Clúid to gain 
practical insights and share our own 

experience with some of Europe’s 
leading housing providers. The event 
was the brainchild of our dear friend, 
colleague and former chair of Clúid’s 
Board, Simon Brooke who sadly 
passed away in 2019.

Throughout his career, Simon worked 
tirelessly to break the stigma too 
often attached to social housing. In 
pursuit of fairness and equality, he 
was committed to giving a voice to 
those in need. His actions were never 
sentimental - they were practical, with 
the aim of creating meaningful, long-
term improvements to people’s lives. 
We are all the better for what he gave 
and regret the loss of all he still had to 
give. He will be greatly missed.

I am very grateful for the continued 
commitment of the board of Clúid 
Housing, our employees and all our 
stakeholders. On behalf of all our 
residents and employees, I would 
like to take this opportunity to thank 
our retiring chair, Fiona Barron 
for her commitment to furthering 
Clúid’s ambitions over the past nine 
years. In particular, Fiona and other 
retiring board members have served 
to strengthen Clúid’s governance 
principles, ensuring we have a solid 
foundation from which to continue 
on our mission. I would also like 
to welcome our new Chair, Mark 
Shakespeare and wish him the very 
best in his tenure.

Clúid firmly believes that having your 
own front door - your own place 
to call home - opens the door to 
opportunities such as seeking out 
employment, accessing education 
and other services that enable 
people to contribute to and enrich 
our communities. As a team, we 
rounded out 2019 with the delivery  
of a record 721 homes. In addition  
to our achievements in 2019, we  
are committed to delivering a  
further 2,300 new homes before  
the end of 2022 in line with our 
corporate strategy. 

Our first 25 years have created a solid 
foundation for our future. Now, we 
look to the road ahead of us and 
renew our commitment to achieving 
our vision of a society where everyone 
has a great place to live.

 
Brian O’Gorman 
Chief Executive

Clúid is the Irish 
word for ‘the seat 
beside the fire’, 
vacated for the guest 
or venerable, elderly 
family member.
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Our Vision / Mission / Values 

Our Vision
Clúid’s vision is a society where 
everyone has a great place to live.

Our Mission
Clúid aims to achieve its vision 
by providing quality housing and 
services to enable people to create 
homes and thriving communities.

Clúid has become 
one of the leading 
approved housing 
bodies in Ireland.
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Our Values 
Leadership  
Clúid is passionate about results that 
matter and is committed to constantly 
challenging the way we do things, so that 
we can be the best at what we do. We aim 
to set the benchmark for housing quality 
and customer service. We accept only 
the highest standards of conduct and put 
service before self-interest.

Collaboration  
Clúid is approachable and responsive. We 
aim to get the best, mutually beneficial 
results from all our working relationships. 
We keep our promises.

Responsibility
Clúid takes personal and collective 
responsibility to ensure that the needs  
of our customers are consistently met in  
a cost effective and sustainable manner.

Caring  
Clúid believes that when we care for 
each other, interacting with integrity and 
respect, we will ultimately achieve the best 
possible outcome in any given situation.
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  A New Direction for Clúid

Clann will expand and improve 
housing options for people over the 
age of 55. This means supporting 
people to remain living independently 
for as long as possible and providing 
more age-friendly homes for people 
who are inappropriately housed.

Aoife Flynn Kennedy, Head of Clann  
“Clann aims to build an Ireland where 
everyone has a great place to live, 
regardless of their age.

The name Clann was chosen by our 
residents. It is the Irish word for 
family, or a group of people with a 
common interest. We are committed 
to supporting our residents to age-
in-place, as well as leading the sector 
by addressing the future growth in 
demand for age-appropriate housing.”

Clann is already the largest provider of 
age-friendly housing in Ireland, having 
transferred units from Clúid Housing.

Clann has an ambitious development 
programme of 800+ new homes. 
These will be delivered through 
a mixture of acquisition and 
construction programmes.

Clann has over 20 schemes across 
Ireland - schemes such as Broome 
Lodge in Cabra, Dublin, developed in 
partnership with Dublin City Council.

Broome Lodge has received plaudits 
for its design, comfort and place in the 
heart of the Dublin 7 community.

 

2019 saw the launch of Clann, a new dedicated 
age-friendly housing service for older people.

800+
Clann has an ambitious 
development programme  
of 800+ new homes.
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“ My kids would like to take care 
of me, but I wouldn’t like it. I 
have my own independence and 
I love being able to go about my 
day as I please and enjoy my 
own space. I have the best of 
both worlds at Marewood in  
that way.”
 
Barbara Maher

“ I love life. I am very active. I 
go for a walk every morning 
from Marewood to the Botanic 
Gardens. To be honest, I 
don’t feel 81. I enjoy my 
independence, but Danny, our 
scheme manager, is there if we 
need his help with anything. We 
have a good community here.” 
 
Jimmy King 

“A service like Clann, providing 
age-friendly housing and 
services, is exactly what Ireland 
needs. This is the right time to 
develop this type of dedicated 
service and I’m delighted to 
hear that they already have big 
plans to deliver more homes 
across the country.”
 
Brendan Courtney



Section Two
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Building 
Sustainable 
Communities
Clúid’s vision is a society where everyone  
has a great place to live.

When Hao’s family moved into their 
home in Clúid’s Kilcronan scheme 
they became one of Clúid Housing’s 
first residents.

“Home is about my family. This is where 
I have grown up. I am now in college 
and no matter what the future holds, 
or where I go in life, this will always be 
home and where I return to.

Where I live is the best you can get. I 
feel safe and secure here, I have the 
canal beside my house, so I can go for 
a jog or a stroll. I use public transport 
to commute to college, so I am lucky 
because I have two main buses close by.

I am studying for a degree in multi-
media right now. I want to work hard 
to give back to my family for the life 
that I have now.”
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Hao Anh Nguyen, Dublin
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Kerry

91

Carlow

26
Kilkenny 

16

Waterford 

1Cork

114

Limerick 

3
Tipperary

8

Laois 

21
Wicklow 

17

Louth 

51

Dublin

215

Mayo  

1

Galway  

23
Offaly  

3
Kildare 

95

Meath

34

Cavan

1
Longford

1

Kerry

91

Housing Units by County

 1-10
 11-20 
 21-30
 31-50
 51-215

This achievement was made possible by 
partnering with the Department of Housing, 
Planning and Local Government, local authorities, 
developers, the Housing Finance Agency, 
financial institutions and other third parties.

In 2019, over 2,100 
residents moved  
into 721 new homes 
across Ireland.



Property Acquisition Model

721 We handed over 
the keys to 721 new 
homes in 2019.
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477
Developer New  
Build Turnkey

9
Clúid Design  
and Build

7
Other

74
Developer Design 
and Build

29
Mortgage-to-Rent

125
Second-hand 
Acquisitions

of Clúid’s delivery  
in 2019 was newly 
constructed homes.82%
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Clúid’s 25th 
Anniversary

Highlights

In 2019, Clúid Housing 
celebrated 25 years 
of delivering quality 
housing and services.

Clúid meets the President
A highlight of the celebrations for 
Clúid residents, board members and 
employees was the visit to Áras an 
Uachtaráin as guests of President 
Michael D. Higgins. In his speech, 
President Higgins praised Clúid’s work, 
noting our contribution to the creation 
of community life for so many citizens  
of Ireland.

7,000 homes
In our 25th year of operation Clúid 
surpassed another milestone. We were 
thrilled to hand over the keys to our 
7,000th home. Resident Kieran Phelan 
commented: “The standard of the 
home is incredible and myself and my 
wife are thrilled to have the keys to our 
new home here in Callan.”

The Mansion House, Dublin
Clúid residents, board members 
and employees celebrated our 
achievements over the past 25 years 
with a visit to the Mansion House to 
meet the Lord Mayor of Dublin, Nial 
Ring. Following the meeting, there was 
an afternoon reception to mark Clúid’s 
25th anniversary. 

Cork City Hall
The 25th anniversary celebrations 
continued with a visit to the Lord 
Mayor of Cork, Mick Finn. Clúid’s 
Leeside residents, Aimee O’Riordan 
and son Alex had the chance to sign 
the visitors’ book at Cork City Hall. 

An Móinéar, Galway
At the last in our series of Mayoral 
events Níall McNelis, the Lord Mayor 
of Galway, was given a tour of An 
Móinéar, a new Clúid scheme in 
Renmore where the community gave 
the warmest of welcomes. Following 
the tour, residents, board members 
and employees visited Galway City Hall 
to sign the visitors’ book.

Home is where the Heart is
To mark our 25th year, we have curated 
a commemorative book of inspirational 
photos and reflections from the people 
who make our work so important - our 
residents. Entitled ‘Home is where the 
Heart is’ the book features residents 
from across the country telling us what 
home means to them.
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Mary Sullivan,  
Resident and Artist  
with the President,  
Michael D. Higgins and 
Brian O’Gorman, Chief 
Executive of Clúid.
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Stepping Stones  
Award Programme
 

Highlights

“ I received an honours Bachelor of Arts degree in 
Psychology and Gaeilge from NUIG and I am now 
completing a Masters in Primary Teaching in Mary 
Immaculate College, Limerick. I want to say a huge 
thanks to Clúid for all of their support through the 
Stepping Stones Bursary.”

 
   Amy Kilkelly, Galway
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“ By finding a new career path - one where I 
can use my skills and experience - I hope 
to be able to lift us out of where we are, 
financially. I really want to provide a better 
life for my kids - one where we don’t have to 
worry about having enough. I want to show 
them that if you work hard and find work 
that you love doing life can get better and 
you can be more financially secure.”

 
   Lauren Dolan, Galway 

27
Awards

€15,000
Grants

10
Third level 
qualifications

17
Certificate and skills’ 
qualifications

“ I am so delighted to get this help 
towards completing my studies and 
the costs around that. I have set up 
the first and only Mental Health 
and Peer Support Centre in Mayo 
through my studies.”

 
   Elaine Browne, Mayo 

187
Awards

95
Third level 
qualifications

92
Certificate and skills’ 
qualifications

€93,000
Grants

Leaving a Lasting Legacy (2013 to 2019)
Stepping Stones is an annual grant scheme, run by Clúid Housing for residents who are planning 
to attend a training or education course. Since 2013, Clúid has supported 187 residents with this 
‘stepping stone’ to a new direction in life.

Stepping Stones Award Class of 2019
The Stepping Stones programme supports residents in a broad range of courses covering 
third level as well as certificate and skills training. Grants for the programme are awarded by 
a panel of three judges based on the resident’s application. To apply for a grant, residents 
outline how the award can help to improve and enrich their lives. Our awardees have spoken 
very favourably about the awards programme. Here is a flavour of the variety of courses and 
the positive impact of this support.



Leeside  
Apartments

 
  Cork City

  175 
 Residents
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Turnkey acquisition

Lord Mayor of Cork, Mick Finn visiting Leeside 
Apartments with Clúid CEO, Brian O’Gorman 
and Leeside resident, Aimee O’ Riordan

Highlights
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These units are finished to the highest 
standard and will provide people in Cork 
City with long-term, secure homes. Clúid 
has worked with Cork City Council to 
deliver these units in a matter of months. 
This project shows what can be achieved 
when stakeholders who are committed to 
housing delivery work together.
James O’Halloran, Clúid Housing New Business Manager

New homes
78

Purchase 
cost €20m
Total number  
of Clúid homes  
in Cork 1,044

Sustainability

Energy efficient features of Leeside

 New double glazed windows 

 Upgrade to external doors

 New external air-to-air heat 
pumps in targeted units

 High performance insulation.

City centre location

Close to pubic transport

C1 average BER rating



Sleaty  
Park View

 
  Carlow Town

  90
 Residents

 

 

Ger and Debbie Kearney 
with Minister Eoghan 
Murphy receiving the 
keys to their new home.

Developer Design and Build
24 Clúid Housing   Annual Report 2019

Highlights
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These 26 new homes in Sleaty  
Park View are a significant addition  
for Clúid in Carlow. We are continually 
looking for new opportunities to develop 
further in the county and beyond. 
 
Fiona Cormican, Clúid Housing New Business Director

Sleaty Park View is an excellent 
example of a high-quality development 
that provides comfortable and energy-
efficient homes for families on the 
council’s housing list. We wish them all 
the very best in their new homes. 
 
Kathleen Holohan, Chief Executive, Carlow County Council

New homes 26
Construction 
cost €4m

Total number of Clúid 
homes in Carlow 205

Construction 
time

13 months

BER                             A-Rated

Energy efficient features of Sleaty Park View

 Double glazed windows

 High efficiency boiler 

 Air-to-water electric heat pump

 Heat recovery ventilation system

 Improved wall and roof insulation (80mm Xtratherm 
cavity wall insulation / 400mm enhanced attic insulation)

 A3 BER rating.

Sustainability



Our  
Communities
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Highlights



Clúid aims to build communities, 
not just homes. Our residents and 
employees host all kinds of community 
initiatives all over the country. 
From small group activities to larger community events, 2019 
saw our residents come together to take part in family fun days, 
community group activities and European Neighbours’ Day.

25 Years - 1994 to 2019 27

Clúid’s vision is a society 
where everyone has a  
great place to live.
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Section Three

Improving  
Our Services

Promoting 
Sustainable 
Work Practices
Clúid has a strong performance record in delivering 
quality services to our residents. This is achieved 
through a joint commitment to collaboration between 
our employees and our residents.
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Property Services 

In 2019, Property Services delivered an ambitious 
maintenance programme of upgrades and repairs for 
our residents across Ireland.

Clúid’s Property Services Team 
is an experienced network of 
maintenance professionals and 
building surveyors, supported by 
a central investment and asset 
management planning team.

All of my bills have come 
down since we’re after 
getting the new heating 
system. They did a great 
job on it. 
Tommy Sherlock
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Property Services at a Glance in 2019 

New kitchens fitted 109  
New boilers installed 50  
New heat pumps installed 142  
New windows and doors fitted 431

€4.06mPlanned  
Programme  
2019 (asset 
enhancements) 

Gas boiler service schedule compliance 99.8% 
Gas and oil boilers serviced 4,788 
Electrical inspections completed 847

€1.1mCyclical Works 

Better Energy  
Communities   
(BEC) Scheme   
 

Grant funding secured €1.4m 

Fuel Poverty 

Clúid has saved over €11,000 in 2019 by installing  
energy-efficient lighting in communal areas of  
apartment blocks and offices. 

Invest to Save

Surveys completed  1,120  Stock Condition 
Surveys     
 

126 units upgraded as 
part of the BEC scheme, 

with an average  
rating uplift to B3
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25 years of investment 
in our properties

Property Services (continued)

Energy Improvements

 
Clúid has invested in excess of  
€7m between 2016 and 2019 to 
upgrade properties and make them 
more energy efficient. In the past 
three years the Property Services team 
has upgraded almost 900 properties 
to an average rating of B3, making 
these homes more efficient and 
cheaper to run.

Clúid aims to tackle the issue of fuel 
poverty through targeted investment. 
Works carried out as part of these 
programmes include insulation, 
replacing doors and windows, 
upgrading heating systems,  
installing inset stoves and energy 
efficient lighting.

Compliance and Safety 

 

Over the past 25 years, Clúid’s 
Property Services team has invested 
in excess of €7m in the maintenance of 
our properties. By doing this, we are 
creating a safer home for our residents 
and ensuring the highest of standards 
and compliance with current legislation.

We comply with essential Health & 
Safety processes in order to:

 - Reduce the risk of injury

 - Protect our residents

 - Protect our buildings 

 - Maximise the operational efficiency 
and longevity of installations.

Adaptations  

 
Ireland has an ageing population.  
Clúid recognises this change in 
demographics. It is essential that 
our properties continue to meet the 
growing needs of our residents. 

Since 2017, we have invested more 
than €750,000 on modifications 
to allow residents to remain living 
independently in their homes for as 
long as possible.

900 
Homes received  
energy upgrades

€7m 
Amount spent on property 
upgrades (to Q4 2019) 

€7m 
Investment 

350+  
Home improvements 
completed 

€750k
Total spend since 2017 

990 
Hours of Health  
and Safety training
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Customer Contact Centre

Clúid’s Customer Service Vision lays 
out how we want our residents to feel 
and think about our organisation. 

Since its inception, the CCC has 
employed innovative IT solutions to 
improve response times and service 
delivery. The introduction of Clúid 
Web Chat in 2018 was an industry  
first in Ireland and others soon 
followed suit. In 2019, the CCC 
supported almost 2,000 people 
through this service.

The CCC manages the administration 
of Clúid’s Annual Rent Reassessment 
Process (ARRP). The team liaises with 
over 7,000 households each year 
to quality check documentation, in 
advance of financial assessment.

We want our residents to be able to say:

I have a comfortable home and Clúid  
helps me if I have a problem

I am treated fairly and equitably

I have choice

My issues and problems are resolved 
quickly and accurately.

The opening of the CCC was an important part 
of our commitment to continue improving our 
residents’ customer service experience. 

Over Clúid’s 25-year history 
we have led the way on many 
occasions. Opening the Customer 
Contact Centre (CCC) in January 
2012 was a milestone moment. 



Customer Contact Centre at a Glance in 2019 

€551,447Total rent payments  
received by phone 

164,045Customer Service  
contacts

43,105Incoming calls  
answered  

34,689Emails sent  

14,372Outgoing calls  
made    

28,081SMS resident  
notifications sent
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Clúid Works

Clúid Works celebrated its first 
birthday in 2019, marking 12 
months of delivering a national 
responsive repairs and voids  
service to our residents. 
What began life as a small pilot project 
in the south east of the country has 
grown into a national service.

2019 was a very busy year for Clúid 
Works as the team continued to 
establish the service offering, while 
also implementing further service 
improvements, inspired by the 
outcomes of a collaborative review 
with experts from the field of repairs 
and maintenance in-sourcing.
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14,026Total number of  
repairs in 2019

5Average number of  
days to complete repair 
 

204Total number of voids  
in 2019

21Average number of days to 
complete void

Clúid Works at a Glance in 2019 

39Total number of employees  
in Clúid Works   
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Funding Overview

Clúid’s funding model has drawn from a  
variety of sources since the organisation  
came into being in 1994.

Clúid Funding Sources
   Capital Loan and Subsidy Scheme (CLSS) 

   Capital Assistance Scheme (CAS) 

   The Housing Finance Agency (HFA)

   Capital Advanced Leasing Facility (CALF) 

Funding Delivery 2019

Clúid as a not-for-profit charity  
is dedicated to providing  
good value, long-term, secure, 
quality housing. 

717 
99.4%
Private 
Finance

3 
0.4%
Management 
Contracts

1 
0.1%
Capital 
Assistance 
Scheme  
(CAS)

721
In 2019, Clúid financed 
721 new homes using a 
mix of funding sources.

Funding Sources
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Over the past 25 years this funding 
model has enabled Clúid to build a 
diversified portfolio across Ireland to 
meet the need for social housing.

At the end of 2019 Clúid had 7,469 
units under management and 
tangible fixed assets of €1,032m. As 
of December 2019, the funding mix 
for these assets included:

Outstanding long-term debt  
€516m 
 
Outstanding grants  
€432m

When designing this funding model, 
Clúid sought to balance the risks 
inherent in the supply of long-term, 
debt funded rental accommodation. 
Re-financing risk for Clúid is minimal, 
given that all Capital Assistance 
Scheme and Capital Loan and 
Subsidy Scheme grants are expected 
to be relieved in full on their maturity, 
while all Housing Finance Agency 
loans are amortising to the maturity 
of the debt.

Payment and Availability Agreements 
have been a key driver in the latest 
phase of growth, along with Capital 
Advanced Leasing Facility funding 
of between 20% and 30% of the 
acquisition cost of the property at 
2% simple interest rolled up and not 
paid until maturity of the facility. This 
is set in line with the maturity of the 
Payment and Availability Agreements. 

Turnover

Clúid’s finances performed strongly 
in 2019, with annual turnover 
increasing to €46.9m and a surplus of 
€7.23m. A significant element of the 
increase in turnover was the growth 
in payments under the Payment 
and Availability Agreements (circa 
52% of 2019 income, compared to 
approximately 45% in 2018). This has 
been a key driver in our capacity to 
increase the funding and supply of 
new social housing units.

2019 turnover 

2018 turnover 
 

Clúid Turnover

€46.9m

€39.8m

€7.23m 

€9.02m

Clúid Surplus

2019 surplus 

2018 surplus  
 

Clúid debt

24%

1%

75%
Capital Advanced  
Leasing Facility 

Housing Finance Agency  
- terms of 25 to 30 years  
from drawdown  

Non-residential  
property loans   
 

Funding Overview (continued)
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Expenses

Operating expenses increased over 
the period to €39.3m. This was 
driven by increases in staff-related 
expenditure, interest payable and 
scheme related costs. Additional  
work on Clúid units under the remit  
of Owner Management Companies 
was a significant contributing factor to 
this increase. 

Ensuring Supply

Clúid has always sought to innovate 
and maximise its financial capacity 
to enable the supply of social homes, 
while also ensuring the long-term 
security and quality of tenure of its 
existing residents.

A key strategic objective for Clúid is to 
continue to meet housing need across 
different tenure types. To achieve this 
goal, Clúid will look for new sources 
of funding and continue to work with 
existing funders, to develop new social 
and affordable schemes and deliver 
more housing.

There is a robustness to the Clúid 
financial model and to its capacity 
to grow to meet housing need. This 
has been achieved through informed 
decision making over the last 25 years. 
Clúid intends to use this strength to 
further increase the number of homes 
our team delivers and to ensure that 
these are good quality and financially 
sustainable homes.

Clúid 
Operating 
Expenses
40

35

30

25

20

15

10

5

0

20
19

20
18

€31.6m€39.3m

A key strategic 
objective for Clúid is 
to continue to meet 
housing need across 
different tenure types.

Funding Overview (continued)
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Over 60 VFM 
improvements  
have been identified 
across all areas of  
the business.

Value for Money Strategy

In 2019, Clúid launched a new Value 
for Money (VFM) strategy. The 
objective of this new initiative is 
to achieve the full benefit from 
all activity and assets by seeking 
economy, efficiency and effectiveness 
in the use of our resources. 

The VFM strategy has been approved 
by Clúid’s board. Members of 
the board track and monitor the 
performance of the VFM strategy to 
maintain confidence that objectives 
are delivered to plan. 

Clúid’s Operations team manage and 
report on progress through the Joint 
Leadership Team. There are three 
programme categories:

- Continuous Improvement, 
examining daily activities

- Twelve-Month Action Plan, 
reviewing tasks requiring resources 
for improvement

- Long-term Strategic Projects,  
often requiring more significant 
resource input. 

2019 VFM Achievements

Policy Change 
During 2019, Clúid’s ongoing advocacy 
work, in partnership with members of 
the Housing Alliance, focused on: 

- The Central Statistics Office (CSO) 
classification of Approved Housing 
Bodies (AHBs) as being on the 
government balance sheet

- The future sale of unsustainably 
funded properties

- A national differential  
rent scheme.

Construction Defects  
As a member of the Construction 
Defects Alliance, Clúid worked with 
Owner Management Companies 
(OMCs) to campaign for state funding 
to carry out remedial works on 
apartment complexes.

Value Review 
To assess the value added in specific 
procedures, Clúid completed reviews 
in the following areas: 

- Dispute resolution through  
the Residential Tenancies  
Board (RTB) 

- The effectiveness of the role of 
Clerk of Works in ensuring the 
delivery of quality housing.

Procedure 
The development and  
implementation of: 

- A new procurement strategy

- Benchmarking across member 
organisations of the Housing 
Alliance, in support of performance 
improvement and new regulatory 
performance standards.
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VFM Improvements
 
Over 60 VFM improvements have been identified across all areas of the business  

under the categories of:

1. Procurement – streamlining contracts and purchasing systems

2. Productivity – identifying new ways of working and using more efficient technology

3. Process – reducing inefficiencies in our ways of working

4. Economy – identification of opportunities to ‘right size’ aspects of the business  
such as van stock

5. Collaboration – working with like-minded organisations

6. Engagement – enhancing engagement with employees and customers

7. Risk – proactively assessing and mitigating risk 

8. Reporting – ensuring greater visibility and availability of quality information  
to support decision making.



Value for Money Roadmap

Clúid’s VFM focus for 2020 includes the following:

1.  Continually developing our ability to identify efficiencies in daily activities and  

ways to measure the value added from VFM initiatives

2.  Planning operational service reviews of:

 - New Business

 - Housing Services

 - Clúid Works

3.  Implementing the findings of independent customer feedback surveys

4.  Developing the following strategies and plans:

 - Treasury strategy

 - Digital strategy

 - Business continuity strategy

 - Environmental strategy

 - Energy master plan

 - Stepping Stones bursary scheme

5.  Procurement – further consolidating our supply chain

6.  Enhancing our performance management and reporting

7.  Increased understanding of the customer value delivered through our  

age-friendly housing service, Clann

8.  A Continuing policy focus on:

 - The classification of AHBs

 - The future sale of unsustainably funded properties

 - National differential rent and reform of the annual review process.
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Maintaining 
high standards 
of corporate 
governance
The Board of Clúid Housing is committed to maintaining 
high standards of corporate governance. Clúid is 
financially robust and independent. All income received 
is reinvested in the delivery of social homes across a 
diverse community of people.
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 Governance

The Board of Clúid Housing
At any one time, the board of Clúid 
Housing must have at least five but 
no more than 14 members. A detailed 
overview of the members of the board 
is available on pages 48 and 49 of 
this report. Board members, all of 
whom are non-executive, are drawn 
from diverse backgrounds and bring a 
broad range of experience and skills 
to their deliberations. 

All new board members receive 
detailed briefing documents on 
governance, financial and operational 
information and are given an 
opportunity to be briefed by 
executives on the different aspects 
of our business when they are 
appointed. We also provide organised 
familiarisation tours of a number of 
our housing schemes. Directors have 
access to training programmes and 
their ongoing development needs are 
kept under review. 

Board members cannot, under 
the governing documents, receive 
remuneration for services to Clúid 
Housing and may only be reimbursed 
for incidental expenses.

The board aims to ensure a balance 
of both age and gender among 
members and openly advertises for 
positions. The board is committed 
to maintaining high standards of 
corporate governance. Clúid Housing 
is an Approved Housing Body. It is 
regulated by the Housing Regulator 
and licensed by the Property Services 
Regulatory Authority. Members of the 
board are the custodians of Clúid’s 
vision, mission and values. 

The Board approves Clúid’s strategy, 
structure, business plans and budgets 
and ensures the organisation remains 
effective and accountable. The Board 
is responsible for appointing the Chief 
Executive and delegating a range of 
day-to-day decision making powers to 
both the incumbent and the executive 
leadership team.

Appointments and 
Resignations
Members of the board are appointed 
for a term of four years. Members 
wishing to serve a further term must 
seek re-election at the AGM marking 
the end of their first four-year term. 
Members of the board may serve for 
a maximum of eight years. The Board 
Chair or former Chair can continue 
to be a member of the Board for an 
additional two years.

Clúid Housing is a registered charity and an 
approved housing body. The organisation 
complies with the Voluntary Regulation Code 
for Approved Housing Bodies in Ireland.14

The board of Clúid 
Housing must have at 
least five but no more 
than 14 members.
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In 2019, the Board of Clúid Housing appointed a new Chair and  
Vice-Chair:

Mark Shakespeare Chair
Kathi Ó Riain Vice-Chair

During the same period, three new members were elected to the  
Board of Clúid Housing:

Des McCarthy  (Treasurer) (appointed 8 August 2019)
Eamonn Doyle  (appointed 8 August 2019)
Anne McLoughlin  (appointed 8 August 2019)

Two members resigned from the Board of Clúid Housing:

Fiona Barron   (resigned 10 October 2019)
Avril McDermott   (retired 6 June 2019)

Board and Committee Attendance
Attendance at Board Meetings

Fiona Barron  5 of 5
Avril McDermott 2 of 3
Michael Cleary 6 of 6
Enda Cunningham 4 of 6
Eamonn Doyle 2 of 2
John-Mark McCafferty 4 of 6
Des McCarthy 2 of 2
Anne McLoughlin 2 of 2
Paul Mooney 5 of 6
David Mullins 5 of 6
Aidan O’Hogan 5 of 6
Kathi Ó Riain 4 of 6
Mark Shakespeare 6 of 6

Attendance at Audit and Risk Committee Meetings

Enda Cunningham (Chair) 6 of 6
Mark Shakespeare 6 of 6
Kathi Ó Riain 5 of  6
Eamonn Doyle 1 of  1

Attendance at Business Development  
Committee Meetings

Aidan O’Hogan (Chair) 6 of 6
Michael Cleary 3 of 6
John-Mark McCafferty 5 of 6
Des McCarthy 1 of  1
Paul Mooney 6 of 6

Attendance at Nominations and Remunerations*  
Committee Meetings

Anne McLoughlin (Chair) 1 of 1
Aidan O’Hogan 1 of 1

The board aims to 
ensure a balance of 
both age and gender 
among members and 
openly advertises  
for positions. 

*Nominations refers to the appointment of Board 
Members; Remuneration refers to the oversight 
of organisation wide remuneration policies 
and adjustments, with specific reference to the 
Executive Directors and senior management.
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Our Board

Mark Shakespeare – Chair  
Mark is a Senior Director in Treasury 
within the Oil and Gas Sector, 
working with Montreal incorporated 
SNC-Lavalin Group. Prior to the 
acquisition of Kentz Group by SNC he 
was treasurer of London listed Kentz 
Group, and is based in Clonmel. He 
served as treasurer of the McInerney 
homebuilding Group for nearly 20 
years and was experienced in the 
private and social housing markets 
in Ireland and UK in that role. His 
previous career had been in the 
public sector.

Kathi Ó Riain – Vice-Chair  
Kathi is a partner in the Commercial 
Property Department of the Dublin 
law firm, Eugene F. Collins. Originally 
from Cork, Kathi studied Law and 
German in UCC before moving 
to Dublin and doing a Masters in 
Trinity College. A fluent German 
speaker, she worked in the European 
Commission in Berlin before 
qualifying as a solicitor in the Law 
Society of Ireland. She also spent time 
working in a large law firm in London. 
She has extensive experience in all 
areas of commercial property law 
and has been involved in many high 
profile property transactions.

Des McCarthy – Treasurer  
(appointed 8th August 2019) 
Des has over 25 years’ experience 
in the financial services sector, 
encompassing roles in client facing 
and support functions. Des has spent 
a large part of his career structuring 
and financing large European 
infrastructure projects in the 
transportation, telecommunications, 
water and waste treatment sectors. 
Most recently Des was a board 
director and CFO of KBC Bank Ireland 
with responsibility for the Finance, 
Treasury, Credit and Data functions.

 

Fiona Barron – Chair 
(resigned 10th October 2019) 
Fiona is proprietary director of 
AMSCO – Alternative Management 
Solutions. Previously, she was 
Director of Corporate Services with 
the Society of Chartered Surveyors 
Ireland and Chief Executive of the 
Irish Property and Facility Managers’ 
Association. She is a chartered 
surveyor and holds an MBA from 
UCD Smurfit Business School and a 
Certificate of Governance from the 
IPA. Fiona has extensive experience 
in management and development in 
the property industry. 

Michael Cleary 
Michael founded the property 
development and asset management 
company, Cleary McCabe & 
Associates in 1997. He is a member 
of the Institute of Directors in Ireland. 
Michael holds a Master’s Degree in 
Planning & Development Economics 
from Dublin Institute of Technology 
and is a fellow of the Society of 
Chartered Surveyors in Ireland and the 
Royal Institute of Chartered Surveyors.

Enda Cunningham 
Enda is a fellow of The Institute of 
Chartered Accountants in Ireland. 
He is currently CEO of Matrix 
Claims Services Ltd. and has 14 
years’ experience on PLC boards; 
having served as Finance Director of 
Athlone Extrusions plc and McInerney 
Holdings plc. In the latter role, he 
gained widespread experience of 
the UK and Irish housing markets, 
including direct experience of the 
Housing Association industry. He 
is a director of the Pavilion Theatre 
and holds a Bachelor of Commerce 
degree from NUI Galway.

Eamonn Doyle 
(appointed 8th August 2019) 
Eamonn was Chief Operations Officer 
at the Davy Group from 2003 to 
2018. Prior to that, he was managing 
director of Capgemini Ireland. He 
also worked at a senior level in IBM. 
Eamonn has extensive management 
and governance experience across 
the financial services and information 
technology sectors.

John-Mark McCafferty 
John-Mark is Chief Executive of 
Threshold, the National Housing 
Charity, whose aim is to prevent 
homelessness through advice, 
tenancy protection and advocacy. He 
took up this position in January 2017. 
Prior to joining Threshold John-Mark 
was Head of Social Justice and Policy 
with the Society of St. Vincent de 
Paul, working on policies including 
income, utilities policy, child poverty, 
financial inclusion, housing and 
sustainable development. 

Avril McDermott – Vice Chair 
(retired 6th June 2019) 
Avril is a Human Resources 
professional and spent 15 
years as HR Director of Hewlett 
Packard with responsibility for 
Irish and international business 
units. Previously, she held various 
managerial roles in An Post  
including Communications,  
Training and Head of Employee 
Relations. She is a Fellow of CIPD 
and holds a Postgraduate Certificate 
of Governance (UCD). She is 
currently Managing Director of 
AMHR+ consultancy.
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Anne McLoughlin 
(appointed 8th August 2019) 
Anne was Operations Director at 
Hastoe Housing Association where 
she helped build the largest rural 
housing provider in the UK with a 
reputation for high quality energy-
efficient homes and services. 
She runs her own management 
consultancy, providing support 
and advice to the social housing 
sector. She is regularly invited to 
speak at national and international 
events about asset management, 
sustainability, fuel poverty, 
governance and the needs of 
destitute migrants. Anne is a trustee 
of the Refugee Council and has just 
completed nine years as Chair of 
Innisfree Housing Association.

Paul Mooney 
Paul is the Managing Director 
of Benchmark Property. He is a 
chartered surveyor and a member 
of the Royal Institute of Chartered 
Surveyors and the Society of 
Chartered Surveyors of Ireland (SCSI). 
He has spent a number of years 
promoting professionalism in the 
property management sector.  
In 2011, he was appointed by the 
Minister for Justice to the Property 
Services Board. Paul lectures in 
residential property management 
and is a member of the SCSI’s 
Property & Facility Managers 
Professional Group.

David Mullins 
David Mullins is Professor of  
Housing Policy at the University  
of Birmingham. For nearly 30  
years he has led research projects  
on the role of housing associations 
in the delivery of housing 
policy. David is a member of the 
coordination committee of the 
European Network for Housing 
Research (ENHR) and leads the 
ENHR working group on Social 
Housing Governance. He has  
been a member of three  
housing association boards in 
England and has worked for the 
Housing Corporation and for  
two London Local Authority  
Housing Departments.

Aidan O’Hogan 
Aidan is Managing Director of 
Property Byte Ltd. He has over 40 
years’ experience in real-estate and 
is a council member and former 
Chair of Property Industry Ireland, a 
non-executive director of IRES REIT 
plc. and a former non-executive 
Director of Cairn Homes plc. He is 
a fellow of the Royal Institution of 
Chartered Surveyors and the Society 
of Chartered Surveyors Ireland. He 
is a member of the Friends First 
Property Advisory Committee and 
former Chair of the Coombe Women 
and Infants’ University Hospital.

The Board approves 
Clúid’s strategy, 
structure, business 
plans and budgets 
and ensures  
the organisation 
remains effective 
and accountable. 
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Directors’ report For the financial year ended 31 December 2019

The directors present their annual 
report and the audited financial 
statements for the financial year 
ended 31 December 2019.

The company is a registered charity. 
The report and results are being 
presented in a form which complies 
with the requirements of the Companies 
Act 2014 and although not obliged to 
comply with the following: Statements 
of Recommended Practice (SORP) 2014 
FRS 102 – Accounting and Reporting 
for Charities, or SORP 2014 FRS 102 – 
Statement of Recommended Practice 
for Social Housing Providers, Clúid has 
adopted best practice to the extent 
that requirements contained within the 
aforementioned SORPs are applicable 
to the association.

Principal activities

The main activities of the company are 
charitable and relate to the provision of 
social housing across a wide spectrum 
of housing needs. The objectives of 
Clúid are charitable in nature, with 
established charitable status (Registered 
Charity No: 20029975). All income is 
applied solely towards the promotion 
of the charitable objectives of 
the company.

Clúid Housing Association is a company 
limited by guarantee, and having no 
share capital, incorporated in Ireland 
on 26th January 1994 (Company 
Registered number 212249).

Results

The surplus for the financial 
year amounted to €7.2 million 
(2018: €9 million).

Overview of the business

Clúid has consistently demonstrated the 
ability to supply a significant number 
of new units each year to meet the 
growing need for social housing. It is 
the largest provider of social housing 
in the Republic of Ireland, with a 
development programme that is moving 
from a predominant focus on acquisition 
to construction. Clúid is targeting circa 
2,300 new units over the next three 
years. Clúid provides more than bricks 
and mortar, offering housing solutions 
from general needs to housing for 
people with care and support needs. 
Clúid aims to deliver these solutions 
in an economically efficient manner, 
focusing on value for money, while 
meeting its core objective of providing 
a great place to live.

The year under review

As in previous years, Clúid has 
continued to deliver a strong 
operational and financial performance. 
The surplus for the year amounted 
to €7.2 million (2018: €9 million). 
Operating income of €47 million was 
18% higher than 2018, mainly due to 
increased unit numbers financed under 
Payment and Availability arrangements. 
In 2019, Clúid undertook a major 
review of the operational management 
and financial viability of its stock held 
within Owner Management Company 
(OMC) structures. As a result, we have 
increased our provision for exposure 
to latent defects to €3 million (2018: 
€1.1 million). This had a significant 
impact on the surplus generated 
within the year.

The key performance elements were:

 » Payment and Availability income 
up by 37% to €24.3 million

 » Rental income up by 12% 
to €21.8 million

 » Staff related expenditure  
up by 15% to €12.5 million

 » Repairs and scheme costs  
up by 21% to €10 million

 » OMC provisions up by 162%  
to €3 million

 » Operating income increased by 
18% against an increase of 25% 
for operational expenditure.

Clúid reserves at the year‑end 
amounted to €98.1 million (2018: €90.8 
million). See statement of changes in 
equity on page 65.

Financial highlights overview

The enhanced capacity developed over 
the last number of years has enabled 
Clúid to support its stated goals 
of developing sustainable, thriving 
communities, as well as providing 
affordable housing throughout Ireland. 
2019 was a strong year for Clúid, 
with an overall surplus of €7.2 million. 
However, this is a decrease of €1.8 
million on 2018. In 2019, Clúid incurred 
a number of one‑off costs, in particular 
additional costs for OMC provisions on 
some schemes under management.
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Directors’ report For the financial year ended 31 December 2019 (continued)

Analysis of operating income

Operating income increased by 18% to €47 million in 2019.

2019 Share 2018 Share Movement
€’000 % €’000 % %

Payment & Availability income * 24,312 52% 17,783 45% 37%

Rental income 21,842 47% 19,562 49% 12%

Development fees 133 0% 1,837 5% ‑93%

Other income 463 1% 499 1% ‑7%

Management fees 201 0% 200 0% 1%

Total operating income 46,951 100% 39,881 100% 18%

* Lease payments have been reclassified from operating income to operating expenditure to conform to current year presentations.

A significant element of this increase was the growth in income under Payment and Availability agreements. This has facilitated total 
borrowing of €516 million (2018: €310 million). These secure revenue flows have been the key driver in our capacity to increase the 
supply of new social housing units. Development fee income has reduced by 93% due to changes in the basis of calculation from the 
Department of Housing, Planning and Local Government. As a result, this fee income is anticipated to decline further in 2020.

Analysis of operating expenditure

Operating expenses increased by 25% to €39.3 million in 2019 (2018: €31.6 million).

2019 Share 2018 Share Movement
€’000 % €’000 % %

Staff related costs 12,486 32% 10,847 34% ‑15%

Repairs and scheme costs 9,958 25% 8,220 26% ‑21%

Interest payable 9,355 24% 6,489 21% ‑44%

General business running costs 2,210 6% 1,549 5% ‑43%

Lease payments * 1,940 5% 1,975 6% 2%

Professional and consultancy 1,344 3% 608 2% ‑121%

Depreciation (excl. property assets) 945 2% 967 3% 2%

Insurance 904 2% 800 3% ‑13%

Development costs 202 1% 106 0% ‑91%

Total operating expenditure 39,344 100% 31,561 100% 25%

*  Lease payments have been reclassified from operating income to operating expenditure to conform to current year presentations.

Operating expenditure has grown over several years, with the key growth being in staff‑related expenditure, interest payable, 
repairs and scheme related costs. This is in line with expectation, as the company has grown operating income and unit 
numbers over the same period. 

Interest costs have increased by €2.87 million, reflecting the €206 million increase in debt used to finance the additional units 
delivered and part delivered in 2019.

Repairs and scheme costs have risen by €1.74 million. This includes an additional provision of €1.9 million for repairs of defects 
on large OMCs where Clúid owns a significant number of properties (2018: €1.1 million). Excluding the provision from both 
2018 and 2019, repairs and scheme costs increased by €1 million in 2019.
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Directors’ report For the financial year ended 31 December 2019 (continued)

Staff‑related costs have increased by 15%. This reflects an increase in average staff numbers of 19 over the year (10%) and an 
increase in salaries, due to salary inflation and role changes of 5%. The increase in staff numbers is in line with our business 
plan and driven by the need to ensure Clúid has the capacity to achieve its growth plans.

The significant increase in professional and consultancy costs is due to external legal costs related to new scheme acquisitions, 
which are recoverable and included in other income of €360k. Other increases relate to various departmental reviews and 
initiatives carried out during the year.

The continued development of Clúid has incurred a growth in costs. However, this is aimed at driving long‑term efficiencies 
and enhancing the safeguarding of our property assets for the future. Clúid has developed into a large‑scale provider and 
manager of social and affordable properties that are sustainable, now and into the future.

Non-operating activities

The surplus related to non‑operating activities decreased by €1.1 million to a deficit of €0.4 million in 2019.

2019 2018 Movement Movement
€’000 €’000 €’000 %

Planned maintenance expenditure (1,272) (1,855) 583 31%

Management and maintenance subsidies 1,587 1,587 0 0%

(Deficit)/surplus on maintenance costs 315 (268) 583 -217%

Amortisation of government grants 12,579 11,973 606 5%

Loss on sale of tangible assets (459) (335) (124) ‑37%

Depreciation – land and housing property (12,810) (10,665) (2,145) ‑20%

(Deficit) / surplus on housing asset costs (690) 973 (1,663) -171%

(Deficit)/surplus on non-operating activities (375) 705 (1,080) -153%

The key drivers of this movement were:

 » The maintenance costs, after management and maintenance allowances, reflect decreased spend within the planned 
programme. Cyclical spend is anticipated to grow over coming years, due to the continued ageing of Clúid’s stock of CLSS 
homes and enhanced regulatory requirements

 » The management and maintenance subsidies for CLSS remained consistent with previous years as the rates receivable have 
not been amended. The non‑movement in the rates applicable is a cause for concern and Clúid will continue to actively 
seek an appropriate increase for future years

 » The net movement of the amortisation of CLSS and CAS grants against depreciation of Clúid’s residential stock in the year 
reflects the growth in debt‑financed units with no required amortisation but assets subject to depreciation

 » The loss on disposal of €0.5 million is related to the early disposal of property components. This component replacement is 
part of a programme to tackle fuel poverty, where it exists among our tenants.
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Directors’ report For the financial year ended 31 December 2019 (continued)

Balance sheet

Clúid has borrowings of €516 million, sourced since 2013, to supply new social housing by utilising the CALF and PAA funding 
model (2018: €310 million). This is based on the historic strength of its balance sheet, built over time through strategic long‑
term investment decisions and a prudent approach to growth and risk. Clúid intends to continue this level of growth in the 
coming years, further strengthening its balance sheet.

Some key parameters at 31 December 2019 were:

 » The value of Clúid’s housing properties, less depreciation and excluding freehold properties, totalled €1.1 billion, with 
additions of €230 million in the year (2018: €109 million)

 » Clúid now has 7,469 homes under management at year‑end, an increase of 704 in the year
 » Based on the current business plan, updated in November 2019, Clúid has plans and capacity to develop a further circa 

2,300 homes over the next three years
 » At 31 December 2019, the outstanding balance of HFA, CALF and Ulster Bank loans increased by 66% to €516 million, 

(2018: €310 million)
 » During the year, Clúid drew down CALF and HFA funding of €210 million (2018: €105 million)
 » Reserves stood at €98 million at 31 December 2019 (2018: €91 million).

Capital structure and treasury policy

Debt management is the responsibility of the Director of Finance and Treasury. The borrowing requirement is set annually 
and approved by the board as part of the business plan review. The current interest rate strategy incorporated in our treasury 
management policy was reviewed in 2017 and is being reviewed again in 2020.

The table below outlines the existing profile of our interest rates for all outstanding debt.

Weighted Average

Loan Interest Loan Portfolio Holding

Fixed Loans Residential 2.70% 71.36%

CALF 2.00% 24.02%

Variable Loans Residential 2.58% 4.09%

Non‑Residential Fixed Loans 3.54% 0.53%
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Directors’ report For the financial year ended 31 December 2019 (continued)

Grants - CAS

Grants - CLS

Other loans & grants

Loans - HFA & CALF

Current liabilities

Reserves

Financed by

Male

Female

Staff
composition
- gender

46% 54%

5%

35%

1%
47%

3%
9%

Property assets - CAS

Property assets - CLS

Property assets - Debt

Other fixed assets

Current assets (inc. cash)

Assets

5%3%

42%

1%

49%

21%

57%

21%

1%

25-34 years

35-50 years

Over 50 years 

Under 25

Staff
composition
- age

How we utilise our 
financial strength

Clúid is financially strong and 
independent. This gives us the 
capacity to make choices about our 
future direction. Any surplus that Clúid 
generates is reinvested in the company 
as there are no shareholders to whom 
we must pay a dividend. Clúid aims to 
operate efficiently, in order to make the 
best use of our financial resources to 
maximise the social dividend created 
from using our assets. Clúid aims to 
generate growing surpluses to enable 
future funding from private investors 
and public‑sector partners. We regularly 
stress‑test our financial plans to ensure 
we are resilient to changes in economic 
conditions ‑ both internal and external.

Our people, our work

Clúid develops and delivers new 
housing solutions and manages tenancy 
relationships for a large stock portfolio, 
and maintains a property asset base 
of over €1 billion. To achieve this, we 
draw on the skills and enthusiasm of our 
biggest asset, our staff, so that we can 
build more homes, provide attractive 
and safe environments, and offer the 
best customer service.

Clúid sets high standards and applies 
commercial discipline to every aspect 
of our business. We encourage open 
dialogue between staff and residents. 
We embrace new ways of working for 
our staff, as well as our customers, to 
increase efficiency and to reduce waste, 
bureaucracy, paper and time.
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Directors’ report For the financial year ended 31 December 2019 (continued)

Grants - CAS

Grants - CLS

Other loans & grants

Loans - HFA & CALF

Current liabilities

Reserves

Financed by

Male

Female

Staff
composition
- gender

46% 54%

5%

35%

1%
47%

3%
9%

Property assets - CAS

Property assets - CLS

Property assets - Debt

Other fixed assets

Current assets (inc. cash)

Assets

5%3%

42%

1%

49%

21%

57%

21%

1%

25-34 years

35-50 years

Over 50 years 

Under 25

Staff
composition
- age

Providing more new 
housing solutions

There continues to be a housing 
shortage, especially affordable homes 
for lower and middle‑income individuals 
and families in Ireland. Clúid is 
committed to producing as many new 
homes as possible each year with a 
range of options to meet this need.

Closer partnerships

Clúid continues to use partnerships to 
help us provide more homes, because 
we believe we can achieve more in 
partnership than we can alone. To deal 
with the changes and challenges ahead, 
Clúid will continue to link with our 
partners from the private, local authority 
and housing association sectors to 
create new opportunities and a stronger 
delivery of new homes. The scope of 
our partnerships will continue to grow, 
as the largest housing associations gain 
greater financial strength and look to 
enhance their development capacity. 
Clúid sees itself at the forefront of this 
growth, across different tenure models.

Governance

Clúid was an early advocate of the 
need for a Housing Regulator and 
has strongly supported this statutory 
body. We are pleased to see that the 
Regulator is now on a statutory footing, 
as this is a vital element in the evolution 
of the AHB sector. The speed of change 
in the last ten years for AHBs has been 
assisted by the implementation of key 
standards enabling the transition in the 
business model.

The larger AHBs have grown from 
predominantly grant‑funded low‑risk 
entities to strong debt‑financed entities. 
Some of the key standards and codes 
are outlined below:

 » Voluntary Regulatory Code: July 2013
 » IRC & Regulation Office established: 

Feb 2014
 » Financial Standard: July 2015
 » Funding Eligibility: Circular 15/2016
 » Governance Standard: Dec 2017
 » Performance Standard: Dec 2018.

Board of Directors

Clúid is governed by a board 
composed of non‑executive members. 
Board members are drawn from a range 
of backgrounds and their names are 
set out on the company information 
page. The board delegates some of 
its responsibilities to committees, 
each of which has a key business 
remit. The committees have clear 
terms of reference and delegated 
authority. They report back to the 
board at each meeting, where their 
recommendations are considered and 
approved, as appropriate. 

There are three main functional 
committees within the company; 
the Audit & Risk Committee, the 
Nominations & Remuneration 
Committee and the Business 
Development Committee.

Audit & Risk Committee

The Audit & Risk Committee oversees 
the work of the external and internal 
audit functions. The committee reviews 
the audited financial statements 
and recommends them to the board 
for approval. Through the reports it 
receives, the committee gains external 
assurance that Clúid has appropriate 
systems of internal control and complies 
with the regulatory expectations in this 
area. It also oversees the company risk 
management framework.

Business Development 
Committee

The Business Development Committee 
is convened to consider new business 
opportunities, strategic investment and 
customer service. Discussions this year 
have included; the development of a 
maintenance guide; the assessment 
of intermediate rental models; 
performance benchmarking; and the 
creation of Clann, an older persons’ 
housing service. The delivery of 
new business is a standing item on 
the agenda.

Nominations & 
Remuneration Committee

The Nominations & Remuneration 
Committee is convened to review 
the structure, skills, experience, and 
succession planning of the board itself 
on behalf of the board. It approves the 
remuneration policy, including pension 
and any other compensation payments. 

The Leadership Team

Clúid is managed by a Leadership 
Team, comprised of the Executive 
Team and the Operations Team. The 
Executive Team is headed by the 
Chief Executive and supported by 
the Directors of Finance and Treasury, 
Corporate Services, Housing Services, 
Property Services, and New Business. 
It is tasked with managing the strategic 
direction of Clúid and is responsible for 
overall management. The Operations 
Team is comprised of managers from 
across the business, tasked with 
operational enhancements and review 
of cross‑company performance.

Executives and other staff are 
not company members and act 
as executives within the authority 
delegated by the board. The 
executive team meets twice monthly.

Directors

The directors who served during the 
financial year were:

Mark Shakespeare (Chair)
Kathi Ó Riain (Vice Chair)
Des McCarthy (Treasurer)  
(appointed 8 August 2019)
Fiona Barron  
(resigned 10 October 2019)
Michael Cleary
Enda Cunningham
Eamonn Doyle  
(appointed 8 August 2019)
John‑Mark McCafferty
Avril McDermott (retired 6 June 2019)
Anne McLoughlin  
(appointed 8 August 2019).
Paul Mooney
David Mullins
Aidan O’Hogan
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Directors’ report For the financial year ended 31 December 2019 (continued)

Principal risks and uncertainties

The Board of Clúid maintains a 
Corporate Risk Register. It details the 
main risks to the business. The board 
sets the risk appetite and monitors the 
management and mitigation strategies 
employed by the executive. The 
Corporate Risk Register is continually 
monitored through the Audit and Risk 
Committee and is reviewed at every 
meeting of the board. The risks detailed 
on the Corporate Risk Register include:

Defects in multiple occupancy 
properties held within owner 
management company structures 

Poor construction standards have 
emerged in property developed 
prior to the property market collapse 
in 2008. These properties are often 
located within OMCs, creating 
additional responsibilities for Clúid, 
as leaseholders of common areas 
alongside other owners. The board 
ensures that appropriate provisioning 
is made to manage this risk. We are 
continuing our review of all of our 
OMCs, to determine the extent of 
latent defects. As we identify issues 
with OMCs we make provision for 
these. Our current provision is €3m. 
We will continue to monitor this issue 
and endeavour to set aside adequate 
provisions, as new cases are identified. 

The CSO designation of AHBs as 
part of Government

The CSO designation of AHBs as part 
of government took place in March of 
2018. This classification raises concerns 
about our independence and autonomy 
and creates potential constraints for us 
continuing to access funding into the 
future. The board wishes to monitor the 
current situation and, in time, reverse 
this designation if possible.

Generating adequate return from 
operations to fund management and 
maintenance costs 

Our older, grant‑funded, properties are 
funded by a ‘differential’ income‑based 
rent, supplemented by a management 
and maintenance allowance. The 
ability to manage and maintain older 
grant‑funded properties is currently 
compromised by the prescribed terms 
upon which they were developed. 

Clúid currently funds repairs and 
maintenance on these units from its 
internally generated surplus. This 
method of funding such repairs is 
not sustainable long‑term and we 
are seeking to negotiate a viable 
funding mechanism.

Adequately resourcing and building 
capacity in a period of rapid growth 

Clúid is undergoing rapid growth. This 
high level of growth creates challenges. 
The board ensures that resources are 
in place to appropriately meet existing 
obligations, while adequately providing 
for new and increased levels of activity. 

Impact of Coronavirus

Ireland is currently in the ‘delay’ phase 
to slow down the spread of the virus. 
As a result of the social distancing 
guidelines, issued by the government, 
we have closed our Dublin head office 
and regional offices to all but essential 
staff, and employees are successfully 
implementing alternative working 
arrangements. The direct impact on 
the existing units in management has 
been reviewed and assessed as low, 
due to the nature of the business. The 
shutdown of construction sites and 
the uncertainty as to when they will 
re‑open will have a major impact on the 
delivery and funding of our new units. 
We are actively engaging with funders 
and developers to ensure development 
can be delivered once government 
restrictions are lifted.

For the period of the shutdown, we 
have curtailed repairs to emergencies 
and maintain only essential contacts 
between staff and tenants. The 
shutdown period will impact on 
expenditure, but this is expected to 
rebound once this phase has ended. 
Income is split evenly between 
government backed contracts and 
tenants’ rents, both of which are not 
currently at risk. The business will 
strive to continue to operate normally 
and it is envisaged that revenues and 
expenditure may be delayed but not 
materially impacted. We have assessed 
the impact on the liquidity of the 
business over the next nine months and 
are confident that our cash position is 
robust and able to withstand significant 
potential impacts. 

Capital structure and 
treasury management

Treasury activities focus on ensuring that 
Clúid has access to sufficient levels of 
cash and facilities to enable it to meet 
its short‑term funding requirements. 
Clúid always plans to have facilities 
available at an acceptable cost, in 
accordance with the annual budget, as 
approved by the board. Clúid treasury 
management is designed to mitigate 
the impact of any adverse movements 
in interest rates, to ensure that loan 
covenants are met and to rank the 
preservation of capital ahead of returns 
when making investment decisions.

Debt repayment profile

The table at note 18 to the financial 
statements shows an analysis of the 
anticipated contractual cash flows, 
including interest payable for Clúid’s 
loans on an undiscounted basis. Interest 
is calculated on drawn down debt held 
at 31 December 2019. For the purposes 
of this table, debt is defined as drawn 
down. The interest on debt is calculated 
by reference to the underlying loan 
agreement and the rate applicable at 
the balance sheet date.
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Cash management and 
counterparty risk

Detailed 18‑month rolling cash flow 
forecasts are prepared and reviewed 
each quarter, along with longer‑term 
forecasts linked to our business plan. 
We aim to operate a conservative 
counterparty risk management strategy. 
The strategy aims to minimise the risk 
of a financial loss, reputational loss 
or liquidity exposure resulting from 
a counterparty risk to any treasury 
transaction becoming insolvent. The 
balanced use of cash reserves to further 
Clúid’s objectives is key to having a 
continued capacity to meet housing 
need, while securing the resources to 
manage and maintain our housing stock 
into the future.

Interest rate management

At 31 December 2019, 96% of Clúid’s 
drawn down debt was fixed (2018: 
93%). This was split ‑ 25% CALF, 74% 
HFA and 1% non residential. Clúid 
manages its exposure to fluctuations 
in interest rates on long‑term debt by 
ensuring it accesses funding at a fixed 
rate, where possible.

Loan covenant compliance

Loan covenants are regularly reviewed 
and compliance reported to the board. 
All covenants were met throughout the 
year for all loan facilities.

Health and safety of employees

The wellbeing of the company’s 
employees is safeguarded through 
strict adherence to health and safety 
standards. Health and safety legislation 
imposes certain requirements on 
employers and Clúid has taken the 
necessary action to ensure compliance 
with the legislation, including the 
adoption of a safety statement.

Environmental matters

Clúid will seek to minimise adverse 
impacts on the environment from its 
activities, while continuing to address 
health, safety and economic issues. To 
the best of our knowledge, we have 
complied with all applicable legislation 
and regulations.

Accounting records

The measures taken by the directors 
to ensure compliance with the 
requirements of Sections 281 to 285 of 
the Companies Act 2014 for keeping 
accounting records are the employment 
of appropriately qualified accounting 
personnel and the maintenance of 
computerised accounting systems. 
Clúid’s accounting records are 
maintained at our registered office at 
159‑161 Sheriff Street Upper, Dublin 1.

Events since the end  
of the year

Apart from the impact of the 
coronavirus as mentioned above, 
there have been no significant events 
affecting the company since the year 
end as far as we are aware.

Future developments

The company plans to continue in its 
present activities.

Statement of relevant 
audit information

Each of the persons who are directors 
at the time when this directors’ report is 
approved has confirmed that:

 » As far as the director is aware, there 
is no relevant audit information 
of which the company’s auditors 
are unaware

 » The director has taken all the steps 
that ought to have been taken as a 
director in order to be aware of any 
relevant audit information and to 
establish that the company’s auditors 
are aware of that information.

Auditors

The auditors, Grant Thornton, continue 
in office in accordance with section 
383(2) of the Companies Act 2014.

This report was approved by the Board on 28 April 2020 and signed on its behalf.

Mark Shakespeare (Chair) Des McCarthy (Treasurer)
Director Director

Date: 28 April 2020
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Directors’ responsibilities statement for the financial year ended 31 December 2019

The directors are responsible for 
preparing the Directors’ report and the 
financial statements, in accordance with 
Irish law and regulations.

Irish company law requires the directors 
to prepare the financial statements for 
each financial year. Under the law, the 
directors have elected to prepare the 
financial statements in accordance with 
the Companies Act 2014 and Financial 
Reporting Standard 102 ‘The Financial 
Reporting Standard applicable in the UK 
and Republic of Ireland’.

Under company law, the directors must 
not approve the financial statements 
unless they are satisfied that they give a 
true and fair view of the assets, liabilities 
and financial position of the company 
as at the financial year end date, of the 
profit or loss for that financial year and 
otherwise comply with the Companies 
Act 2014.

In preparing these financial statements, 
the directors are required to:

 » Select suitable accounting policies 
for the company’s financial 
statements and then apply 
them consistently

 » Make judgments and accounting 
estimates that are reasonable 
and prudent

 » State whether the financial 
statements have been prepared 
in accordance with applicable 
accounting standards, identify 
those standards, and note the effect 
and the reasons for any material 
departure from those standards

 » Prepare the financial statements on 
the going concern basis, unless it is 
inappropriate to presume that the 
company will continue in business.

The directors are responsible for 
ensuring that the company keeps, or 
causes to be kept, adequate accounting 
records which correctly explain and 
record the transactions of the company; 
enable at any time the assets, liabilities, 
financial position and profit or loss of 
the company to be determined with 
reasonable accuracy; enable them to 
ensure that the financial statements 
and Directors’ report comply with the 
Companies Act 2014 and enable the 
financial statements to be audited. They 
are also responsible for safeguarding 
the assets of the company and, hence, 
for taking reasonable steps for the 
prevention and detection of fraud and 
other irregularities.

The directors are responsible for the 
maintenance and integrity of the 
corporate and financial information 
included on the company’s website. 
Legislation in Republic of Ireland 
governing the preparation and 
dissemination of financial statements 
may differ from legislation in 
other jurisdictions.

On behalf of the Board

Mark Shakespeare (Chair) Des McCarthy (Treasurer)
Director Director

Date: 28 April 2020
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Independent auditor’s report to the members of Clúid Housing Association

Opinion

We have audited the financial 
statements of Clúid Housing 
Association, which comprise the 
Statement of comprehensive income, 
the Statement of financial position, 
the Statement of cash flows, the 
Statement of changes in equity for 
the financial year ended 31 December 
2019, and the related notes to the 
financial statements.

The financial reporting framework that 
has been applied in the preparation 
of the financial statements is Irish law 
and accounting standards issued by the 
Financial Reporting Council including 
FRS 102 ‘The Financial Reporting 
Standard applicable in the UK and 
Republic of Ireland’ (Generally Accepted 
Accounting Practice in Ireland).

In our opinion, Clúid Housing 
Association’s financial statements:

 » Give a true and fair view in 
accordance with Generally Accepted 
Accounting Practice in Ireland of 
the assets, liabilities and financial 
position of the Company as at 31 
December 2019 and of its financial 
performance and cash flows for the 
financial year then ended; and

 » Have been properly prepared in 
accordance with the requirements of 
the Companies Act 2014.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance 
with International Standards on Auditing 
(Ireland) (ISAs (Ireland)) and applicable 
law. Our responsibilities under those 
standards are further described in the 
‘Responsibilities of the auditor for the 
audit of the financial statements’ section 
of our report. We are independent 
of the company in accordance with 
the ethical requirements that are 
relevant to our audit of financial 
statements in Ireland, namely the Irish 
Auditing and Accounting Supervisory 
Authority (IAASA) Ethical Standard 
concerning the integrity, objectivity and 
independence of the auditor, and the 
ethical pronouncements established by 
Chartered Accountants Ireland, applied 

as determined to be appropriate in the 
circumstances for the entity. We have 
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities 
in accordance with these requirements. 
We believe that the audit evidence 
we have obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for 
our opinion.

Conclusions relating to 
going concern

We have nothing to report in respect 
of the following matters in relation to 
which the ISAs (Ireland) require us to 
report to you where:

 » The directors’ use of the going 
concern basis of accounting in 
the preparation of the financial 
statements is not appropriate; or

 » The directors have not disclosed 
in the financial statements any 
identified material uncertainties that 
may cast significant doubt about 
the company’s ability to continue 
to adopt the going concern basis 
of accounting for a period of at 
least twelve months from the date 
when the financial statements are 
authorised for issue.

Other information

Other information comprises 
information included in the Annual 
Report, other than the financial 
statements and our auditor’s report 
thereon. The directors are responsible 
for the other information. Our opinion 
on the financial statements does not 
cover that information and, except to 
the extent otherwise explicitly stated in 
our report, we do not express any form 
of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the 
financial statements, our responsibility 
is to read the other information and, in 
doing so, consider whether the other 
information is materially inconsistent 
with the financial statements or our 
knowledge obtained in the audit, or 
otherwise appears to be materially 
misstated. If we identify such material 
inconsistencies in the financial 
statements, we are required to 

determine whether there is a material 
misstatement in the financial statements 
or a material misstatement of the other 
information. If, based on the work we 
have performed, we conclude that there 
is a material misstatement of this other 
information, we are required to report 
that fact.

We have nothing to report in 
this regard.

Matters on which we are 
required to report by the 
Companies Act 2014

 » We have obtained all the information 
and explanations which we consider 
necessary for the purposes of 
our audit.

 » In our opinion the accounting records 
of the company were sufficient to 
permit the financial statements to be 
readily and properly audited.

 » The financial statements 
are in agreement with the 
accounting records.

 » In our opinion the information given 
in the directors’ report is consistent 
with the financial statements. Based 
solely on the work undertaken 
in the course of our audit, in our 
opinion, the Directors’ report has 
been prepared in accordance with 
the requirements of the Companies 
Act 2014.

Matters on which we are 
required to report by exception

Based on our knowledge and 
understanding of the company and 
its environment obtained in the 
course of the audit, we have not 
identified material misstatements in the 
directors’ report.

Under the Companies Act 2014, we 
are required to report to you if, in our 
opinion, the disclosures of directors’ 
remuneration and transactions specified 
by sections 305 to 312 of the Act have 
not been made. We have no exceptions 
to report arising from this responsibility.
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Independent auditor’s report to the members of Clúid Housing Association (continued)

Responsibilities of the 
management and those charged 
with governance for the 
financial statements

As explained more fully in the directors’ 
responsibilities statement, management 
is responsible for the preparation of 
the financial statements, which give a 
true and fair view in accordance with 
Generally Accepted Accounting Practice 
in Ireland, including FRS102, and for 
such internal control as they determine 
necessary to enable the preparation of 
financial statements that are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, 
management is responsible for 
assessing the company’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, 
as applicable, matters related to 
going concern and using the going 
concern basis of accounting unless the 
management either intends to liquidate 
the company or to cease operations, or 
has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance 
are responsible for overseeing the 
company’s financial reporting process.

Responsibilities of the 
auditor for the audit of the 
financial statements

The auditor’s objectives are to obtain 
reasonable assurance about whether 
the financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error, and to 
issue an auditor’s report that includes 
our opinion. Reasonable assurance is 
a high level of assurance, but is not 
a guarantee that an audit conducted 
in accordance with ISAs (Ireland) will 
always detect a material misstatement 
when it exists. Misstatements can arise 
from fraud or error and are considered 
material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be 
expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis of 
these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with 
ISAs (Ireland), the auditor will exercise 
professional judgment and maintain 
professional scepticism throughout the 
audit. They will also:

 » Identify and assess the risks of 
material misstatement of the financial 
statements, whether due to fraud 
or error, design and perform audit 
procedures responsive to those 
risks, and obtain audit evidence 
that is sufficient and appropriate 
to provide a basis for our opinion. 
The risk of not detecting a material 
misstatement resulting from fraud is 
higher than for one resulting from 
error, as fraud may involve collusion, 
forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override 
of internal control.

 » Obtain an understanding of internal 
control relevant to the audit in order 
to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but 
not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion of the effectiveness of the 
company’s internal control.

 » Evaluate the appropriateness of 
accounting policies used and the 
reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures 
made by management.

 » Conclude on the appropriateness 
of management’s use of the going 
concern basis of accounting and, 
based on the audit evidence 
obtained, whether a material 
uncertainty exists related to events or 
conditions that may cast significant 
doubt on the company’s ability to 
continue as a going concern. If they 
conclude that a material uncertainty 
exists, they are required to draw 
attention in the auditor’s report to 
the related disclosures in the financial 
statements or, if such disclosures 
are inadequate, to modify their 
opinion. Their conclusions are based 
on the audit evidence obtained up 
to the date of the auditor’s report. 
However, future events or conditions 
may cause the company to cease to 
continue as a going concern.

 » Evaluate the overall presentation, 
structure and content of the financial 
statements, including the disclosures, 
and whether the financial statements 
represent the underlying transactions 
and events in a manner that achieves 
a true and fair view.

The auditor shall communicate with 
those charged with governance 
regarding, among other matters, the 
planned scope and timing of the audit 
and significant audit findings, including 
any significant deficiencies in internal 
control that may be identified during 
the audit.

The purpose of our audit 
work and to whom we owe 
our responsibilities

This report is made solely to the 
company’s members, as a body, in 
accordance with section 391 of the 
Companies Act 2014. Our audit work 
has been undertaken so that we might 
state to the company’s members those 
matters we are required to state to 
them in an auditor’s report and for no 
other purpose.

To the fullest extent permitted by 
law, we do not accept or assume 
responsibility to anyone other than 
the company and the company’s 
members as a body, for our audit work, 
for this report, or for the opinions we 
have formed.

Noel Delaney FCA

for and on behalf of:
Grant Thornton
Chartered Accountants
Statutory Audit Firm
Dublin 2 

28th April 2020
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Statement of comprehensive income for the financial year ended 31 December 2019

2019 2018
Note € €

Turnover 3 46,951,496 39,880,949

Gross profit 46,951,496 39,880,949

Administrative expenses (43,259,289) (36,071,152)

Other operating income 4 12,579,266 11,972,617

Surplus/(deficit) on maintenance costs 314,862 (268,477)

Operating profit 6 16,586,335 15,513,937

Interest receivable and similar income 10 766 1,094

Interest payable and expenses 11 (9,354,908) (6,489,921)

Profit before taxation 7,232,193 9,025,110

Profit for the financial year 7,232,193 9,025,110

The notes on pages 67 to 78 form part of these financial statements.
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Statement of financial position as at 31 December 2019

2019 As restated 
2018

Note € €

Fixed assets

Tangible fixed assets 12 1,032,381,270 817,333,684

1,032,381,270 817,333,684

Current assets

Stocks 13 169,149 186,811

Debtors within one year 14 11,007,111 8,959,602

Cash at bank and in hand 15 19,285,926 21,825,335

Current liabilities 30,462,186 30,971,748

Creditors: amounts falling due within one year 16 (28,653,263) (16,507,594)

Net current assets 1,808,923 14,464,154

Total assets less current liabilities 1,034,190,193 831,797,838

Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year 17 (936,106,700) (740,946,538)

Net assets 98,083,493 90,851,300

Capital and reserves

Designated reserve 20 23,789,489 23,789,489

Deferred amortisation reserve 20 63,070,835 56,964,797

Other restricted reserve 20 785,500 785,500

Income and expenditure account 20 10,437,669 9,311,514

Shareholders’ funds 98,083,493 90,851,300

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the board:

Mark Shakespeare (Chair) Des McCarthy (Treasurer)
Director Director

Date: 28 April 2020

The notes on pages 67 to 78 form part of these financial statements.
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Statement of changes in equity for the financial year ended 31 December 2019

Designated 
reserve

Deferred 
amortisation 

reserve

Other 
reserve

Income and 
expenditure 

account

Total  
reserves

€ € € € €

As restated at 1 January 2019 23,789,489 56,964,797 785,500 9,311,514 90,851,300

Surplus for the financial year - - - 7,232,193 7,232,193

Transfer to/from income and expenditure 
account

- 6,106,038 - (6,106,038) -

At 31 December 2019 23,789,489 63,070,835 785,500 10,437,669 98,083,493

The notes on pages 67 to 78 form part of these financial statements.

Statement of changes in equity for the financial year ended 31 December 2018

Designated 
reserves

Deferred 
amortisation 

reserve

Other 
reserve

Income and 
expenditure 

account

Total 
 reserves

€ € € € €

At 1 January 2018 23,789,489 51,076,027 785,500 6,468,241 82,119,257

Prior year adjustment (note 22) - (293,067) - - (293,067)

At 1 January 2018 (as restated) 23,789,489 50,782,960 785,500 6,468,241 81,826,190

Surplus for the financial year - - - 9,025,110 9,025,110

Transfer to/from income and expenditure 
account

- 6,181,837 - (6,181,837) -

As restated at 31 December 2018 23,789,489 56,964,797 785,500 9,311,514 90,851,300

The notes on pages 67 to 78 form part of these financial statements.
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Statement of cash flows for the financial year ended 31 December 2019

2019 2018
€ €

Cash flows from operating activities

Profit for the financial year 7,232,193 9,025,110

Adjustments for:

Depreciation of tangible assets 13,756,053 11,631,299

Loss on disposal of tangible assets 458,912 334,549

Government grants (12,579,266) (11,972,617)

Interest paid 9,354,908 6,489,921

Interest received (766) (1,094)

Decrease/(increase) in stocks 17,662 (96,406)

(Increase) in debtors (2,047,507) (4,028,037)

Increase in creditors 8,238,782 3,343,460

Net cash generated from operating activities 24,430,971 14,726,185

Cash flows from investing activities

Purchase of tangible fixed assets (229,870,057) (110,131,478)

Sale of tangible fixed assets 607,504 ‑

Interest received 766 1,094

Net cash from investing activities (229,261,787) (110,130,384)

Cash flows from financing activities

New secured loans 207,871,404 105,038,614

Interest paid (9,354,908) (6,489,921)

Government grants received 3,774,911 1,677,778

Net cash used in financing activities 202,291,407 100,226,471

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (2,539,409) 4,822,272

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of financial year 21,825,335 17,003,063

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of financial year 19,285,926 21,825,335

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of financial year 
comprise:

Cash at bank and in hand 19,285,926 21,825,335

19,285,926 21,825,335

The notes on pages 67 to 78 form part of these financial statements.
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Notes to the financial statements for the financial year ended 31 December 2019

1. Accounting policies

1.1  Company information

Clúid Housing Association is a company 
limited by guarantee, having no share 
capital, incorporated in Ireland on 
26th January 1994, (Company number 
212249). It is a registered charity.

1.2   Basis of preparation of 
financial statements

The financial statements have been 
prepared in accordance with ‘Financial 
Reporting Standard 102’, the Financial 
Reporting Standard applicable in the 
United Kingdom and the Republic of 
Ireland and Irish statute comprising of 
the Companies Act 2014.

The preparation of financial statements 
in compliance with FRS 102 requires 
the use of certain critical accounting 
estimates. It also requires management 
to exercise judgment in applying the 
company’s accounting policies (see 
note 2).

In preparing the financial statements, 
the company has referred to guidance 
included within the following: 
‘Statements of Recommended Practice 
(SORPs): Accounting and Reporting 
for Charities, 2014 FRS 102’ and 
‘Accounting by Registered Social 
Housing Providers, Update 2014 FRS 
102’. The association has adopted best 
practice to the extent that requirements 
contained within the aforementioned 
SORPs are applicable to the association.

1.3  Turnover

Turnover represents rental income 
receivable from tenants, revenue 
donations from third parties, 
management fees, development fees 
and revenue grants receivable from 
local authorities, the Department 
of Housing, Planning and Local 
Government and the Health Service 
Executive. Turnover is measured at the 
fair value of the consideration received 
or receivable net of value added tax.

1.4  Development fees

Development fees receivable are 
credited to income in the period 
in which the development work 
is undertaken.

1.5  Management and 
maintenance subsidies

Management and maintenance subsidies 
are payable annually by the local 
authorities to the company in respect of 
projects completed under the Capital 
Loan and Subsidy Scheme (CLSS).

1.6  Tangible fixed assets

Tangible fixed assets under the cost 
model are stated at historical cost less 
accumulated depreciation and any 
accumulated impairment losses. Historical 
cost includes expenditure that is directly 
attributable to bringing the asset to the 
location and condition necessary for it to 
be capable of operating in the manner 
intended by management.

Depreciation is charged so as to allocate 
the cost of assets less their residual 
value over their estimated useful lives, 
using the straight‑line method.

Depreciation is provided on the 
following basis:

Land and housing 
properties

See 1.7 land 
and housing 
properties

Freehold property 2‑3% straight line

Plant and machinery 33% straight line

Motor vehicles 20% straight line

Office equipment 25% straight line

Computer equipment 33% straight line

The assets’ residual values, useful 
lives and depreciation methods are 
reviewed, and adjusted prospectively if 
appropriate, or if there is an indication 
of a significant change since the last 
reporting date.

Gains and losses on disposals are 
determined by comparing the 
proceeds with the carrying amount 
and are recognised in the Statement of 
comprehensive income.

1.7  Land and housing properties

Housing properties are properties 
available for rent, which are held at cost 
less depreciation. Housing properties 
in the course of development are also 
stated at cost. Housing properties 
have been split between their land 
and structure costs and a specific set 
of major components which require 
periodic replacement.

Components are depreciated over the 
estimated useful life of the component 
(excluding land) as follows:

Component Useful economic life (years)

Land Not depreciated

Structure 100

Roof 60

Heating 15

Windows 30

Electrical 30

Bathroom 30

Kitchen 20

Lift 40

Cost includes the cost of acquiring land 
and buildings, the cost of construction 
and capitalised interest. Freehold 
land is not depreciated. Depreciation 
is charged on completed housing 
properties, excluding the land element, 
on a straight line basis over the useful 
economic life of the component. 
Interest incurred on a loan financing a 
development is capitalised up to the 
date of the practical completion of 
the scheme.

1.8  Housing loans

Specific loans are advanced by the 
Housing Finance Agency (HFA) and by 
the Department of Housing, Planning 
and Local Government under the 
Capital Advance Leasing Facility (CALF), 
subject to the terms of individual 
loan agreements. Interest and capital 
repayments are required to be made in 
respect of these loans.
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Notes to the financial statements for the financial year ended 31 December 2019 (continued)

1.9  Operating leases: the 
Company as lessee

Rentals paid under operating leases 
are charged to the Statement of 
comprehensive income on a straight 
line basis over the lease term.

Benefits received and receivable as an 
incentive to sign an operating lease 
are recognised on a straight line basis 
over the period until the date the 
rent is expected to be adjusted to the 
prevailing market rate.

1.10  Stocks

Stocks are stated at the lower of cost 
and net realisable value, being the 
estimated selling price less costs 
to complete and sell. Cost is based 
on the cost of purchase on a first in, 
first out basis. Work in progress and 
finished goods include labour and 
attributable overheads.

At each reporting date, stocks are 
assessed for impairment. If stock is 
impaired, the carrying amount is reduced 
to its selling price less costs to complete 
and sell. The impairment loss is 
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

1.11  Debtors

Short‑term debtors are measured at 
transaction price, less any impairment. 
Loans receivable are measured initially 
at fair value, including transaction 
costs, and are measured subsequently 
at amortised cost using the effective 
interest method, less any impairment.

1.12  Cash and cash equivalents

Cash is represented by cash in hand 
and deposits with financial institutions 
repayable without penalty on notice of 
not more than 24 hours. Cash equivalents 
are highly liquid investments that mature 
in no more than three months from the 
date of acquisition and that are readily 
convertible to known amounts of cash 
with insignificant risk of change in value.

In the Statement of cash flows, cash 
and cash equivalents are shown net of 
bank overdrafts that are repayable on 
demand and form an integral part of the 
company’s cash management.

1.13  Financial instruments

The company only enters into basic 
financial instrument transactions that 
result in the recognition of financial 
assets and liabilities – such as trade and 
other debtors and creditors, loans from 
banks and other third parties, loans 
to related parties and investments in 
ordinary shares.

Debt instruments (other than those 
wholly repayable or receivable within 
one year), including loans and other 
accounts receivable and payable, are 
initially measured at present value of 
the future cash flows and, subsequently, 
at amortised cost, using the effective 
interest method. Debt instruments 
that are payable or receivable within 
one year, typically trade debtors and 
creditors, are measured, initially and 
subsequently, at the undiscounted 
amount of the cash or other 
consideration expected to be paid 
or received.

However, if the arrangements of a 
short‑term instrument constitute a 
financing transaction – such as the 
payment of a trade debt deferred 
beyond normal business terms or in 
case of an outright short‑term loan 
that is not at market rate, the financial 
asset or liability is measured, initially at 
the present value of future cash flows 
discounted at a market rate of interest 
for a similar debt instrument and, 
subsequently, at amortised cost, unless 
it qualifies as a loan from a director in 
the case of a small company, or a public 
benefit entity concessionary loan.

Investments in non‑derivative 
instruments that are equity to the issuer 
are measured:

 » At fair value with changes recognised 
in the Statement of comprehensive 
income if the shares are publicly 
traded or their fair value can 
otherwise be measured reliably

 » At cost less impairment for all 
other investments.

Financial assets that are measured 
at cost and amortised cost are 
assessed at the end of each reporting 
period for objective evidence of 
impairment. If objective evidence of 
impairment is found, an impairment 
loss is recognised in the Statement of 
comprehensive income.

For financial assets measured at 
amortised cost, the impairment loss is 
measured as the difference between 
an asset’s carrying amount and the 
present value of estimated cash flows 
discounted at the asset’s original 
effective interest rate. If a financial asset 
has a variable interest rate, the discount 
rate for measuring any impairment loss 
is the current effective interest rate 
determined under the contract.

For financial assets measured at cost 
less impairment, the impairment loss 
is measured as the difference between 
an asset’s carrying amount and best 
estimate of the recoverable amount, 
which is an approximation of the 
amount that the company would receive 
for the asset if it were to be sold at the 
reporting date.

Financial assets and liabilities are offset 
and the net amount reported in the 
Statement of financial position when 
there is an enforceable right to set off 
the recognised amounts and there is 
an intention to settle on a net basis 
or to realise the asset and settle the 
liability simultaneously.

Derivatives, including interest rate 
swaps and forward foreign exchange 
contracts, are not basic financial 
instruments. Derivatives are initially 
recognised at fair value on the date 
a derivative contract is entered into 
and are subsequently re‑measured 
at their fair value. Changes in the fair 
value of derivatives are recognised 
in profit or loss in finance costs or 
income as appropriate. The company 
does not currently apply hedge 
accounting for interest rate and foreign 
exchange derivatives.
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Notes to the financial statements for the financial year ended 31 December 2019 (continued)

1.14  Creditors

Short‑term creditors are measured at 
the transaction price. Other financial 
liabilities, including bank loans, are 
measured initially at fair value, net of 
transaction costs and, subsequently, 
at amortised cost, using the effective 
interest method.

1.15  Government grants

In line with changes required under FRS 
102 the previous treatment of amounts 
advanced by local authorities and the 
Department of Housing, Planning and 
Local Government, under the Capital 
Loan and Subsidy Scheme (CLSS) and 
the Capital Assistance Scheme (CAS) 
as loan amounts have been changed, 
with these amounts now being classified 
as government grants. As a result, 
where housing developments have 
been financed wholly or partly by such 
grants the value of the related grant 
for the development is shown net of 
amortisation. Grants relating to assets 
are recognised in income on a systematic 
basis over the aggregate useful life for 
the housing assets of 50 years.

Grants are accounted under the accruals 
model, as permitted by FRS 102. Grants 
relating to expenditure on tangible 
fixed assets are credited to the Income 
statement at the same rate as the 
depreciation on the assets to which the 
grant relates. 

Grants of a revenue nature 
are recognised in the Income 
statement in the same period as the 
related expenditure.

1.16  Finance costs

Finance costs are charged to the 
Statement of comprehensive income 
over the term of the debt, using the 
effective interest method, so that the 
amount charged is at a constant rate 
on the carrying amount. Issue costs 
are initially recognised as a reduction 
in the proceeds of the associated 
capital instrument.

1.17  Pensions

Defined contribution pension plan

The company operates a defined 
contribution plan for its employees. A 
defined contribution plan is a pension 
plan under which the company pays 
fixed contributions into a separate 
entity. Once the contributions have 
been paid, the company has no further 
payment obligations.

The contributions are recognised 
as an expense in the Statement of 
comprehensive income when they fall 
due. Amounts not paid are shown in 
accruals as a liability in the Statement of 
financial position. The assets of the plan 
are held separately from the company in 
independently administered funds.

1.18  Holiday pay accrual

A liability is recognised to the extent 
of any unused holiday pay entitlement 
which is accrued at the financial 
year‑end date and carried forward to 
future periods. This is measured at the 
undiscounted salary cost of the future 
holiday entitlement so accrued at the 
Statement of financial position date.

1.19  Interest income

Interest income is recognised in the 
Statement of comprehensive income 
using the effective interest method.

1.20  Designated reserve

The company holds a designated 
reserve for the long‑term maintenance 
of the company’s properties. Funds 
transferred into this reserve each 
year are based on an assessment 
of the long‑term amounts required, 
as reflected in the annual stock 
condition survey.

Funds historically transferred out 
of reserves each year are based on 
actual spend on an agreed planned 
maintenance programme, which reflects 
the needs of our tenants and the 
adequate maintenance of housing stock.

2.  Judgments in applying 
accounting policies 
and key sources of 
estimation uncertainty

Preparation of the financial statements 
requires management to make 
significant judgements and estimates. 
The items in the financial statements 
where these judgments and estimates 
have been made include:

Allowances for impairment of 
trade receivables 

The company estimates the allowance 
for doubtful trade receivables based on 
assessment of specific accounts where 
the company has objective evidence 
(comprising default in payment terms or 
significant financial difficulty) that certain 
tenants are unable to meet their financial 
obligations. In these cases, the judgment 
used was based on the best available 
facts and circumstances including but 
not limited to, the length of relationship. 
At 31 December 2019, provisions for 
doubtful debts amounted to €420,097. 
This represents 5% of trade receivables 
at that date (2018: €344,023 – 5%). 

Useful lives of depreciable assets

The annual depreciation charge depends 
primarily on the estimated lives of each 
type and component of asset and, in 
certain circumstances, estimates of 
fair values and residual values. The 
directors annually review these asset 
lives and adjust them as necessary to 
reflect current thinking on remaining 
lives, in light of technological change, 
prospective economic utilisation and 
the physical condition of the assets 
concerned. Changes in asset lives can 
have significant impact on depreciation 
charges for the period. It is not practical 
to quantify the impact of changes in 
asset lives on an overall basis, as asset 
lives are individually determined and 
there are a significant number of asset 
lives in use. The impact of any change 
would vary significantly depending on 
the individual changes in assets and the 
classes of assets impacted.
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Notes to the financial statements for the financial year ended 31 December 2019 (continued)

3. Turnover

An analysis of turnover by class of business is as follows:

2019 2018
€ €

Development fees 133,214 1,836,895

Other income 462,783 498,589

Management fees 201,158 200,156

Availability income 24,311,578 17,783,401

Rents 21,842,763 19,561,908

46,951,496 39,880,949

All turnover arose in Ireland.

4. Other operating income

2019 2018
€ €

Amortisation of government grants 12,579,266 11,972,617

12,579,266 11,972,617

5. Surplus/(deficit) on maintenance costs

2019 2018
€ €

Planned maintenance expenditure (1,271,860) (1,855,434)

Management and maintenance subsidiaries 1,586,722 1,586,957

Surplus/ (deficit) 314,862 (268,477)

6. Surplus on ordinary activities before taxation

The operating surplus is stated after charging/(crediting):

2019 2018
€ €

Development charged as an expense 202,051 105,589

Amortisation of government grants (12,579,266) (11,972,617)

Depreciation of tangible fixed assets 13,936,602 11,631,299

Rent ‑ operating leases 40,478 39,420

Motor vehicles ‑ operating leases 357,376 314,850

Defined contribution pension cost 566,352 457,661
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Notes to the financial statements for the financial year ended 31 December 2019 (continued)

7. Taxation

As a result of the company’s charitable status, no charge to corporation tax arises under the provision of Section 207 of the 
Taxes Consolidation Act 1997.

8. Employees

Staff costs were as follows:

2019 2018
€ €

Wages and salaries 9,340,324 7,979,417

Social security costs 1,046,506 848,499

Cost of defined contribution scheme 566,352 457,661

10,953,182 9,285,577

Capitalised employee costs during the financial year amounted to €Nil (2018 ‑ €519,161).

The average monthly number of employees, during the financial year was as follows:

2019 2018
Number Number

Employees 204 186

Salary banding for all employees earning over €50,000 (including salaries, performance‑related pay and benefits in kind but 
excluding pension contributions paid by the employer and any termination payments)

2019 2018
Number Number

€50,000 to €60,000 24 13

€60,000 to €70,000 23 26

€70,000 to €80,000 9 7

€80,000 to €90,000 8 7

€90,000 to €100,000 - 4

€100,000 to €110,000 3 2

€110,000 to €120,000 3 2

70 61

The review is based on comparison with the private, public and non‑profit sectors. The Chief Executive’s salary in 2019 was 
€120,000 (2018: €120,000).

9. Directors’ remuneration

The directors do not receive any remuneration in respect of the company.
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Notes to the financial statements for the financial year ended 31 December 2019 (continued)

10. Interest receivable

2019 2018
€ €

Other interest receivable 766 1,094

766 1,094

11. Interest payable and similar expenses

2019 2018
€ €

Interest payable to credit institutions 9,354,908 6,489,921

9,354,908 6,489,921

12. Tangible fixed assets

As restated  
Land and housing

Freehold 
property

Plant and 
machinery

Motor 
vehicles

Office 
equipment

Computer 
equipment

Total

€ € € € € € €

Cost or valuation

At 1 January 2019 912,923,241 6,596,532 66,549 6,001 418,507 2,580,171 922,591,001

Additions 229,514,538 - 4,170 - 148,084 203,265 229,870,057

Disposals (2,635,949) - - - - - (2,635,949)

At 31 December 2019 1,139,801,830 6,596,532 70,719 6,001 566,591 2,783,436 1,149,825,109

Depreciation

At 1 January 2019 102,635,470 842,630 38,693 4,599 317,629 1,418,296 105,257,317

Charge for the financial 
year on owned assets

12,810,455 136,780 15,319 1,400 133,028 659,071 13,756,053

Disposals (1,569,531) - - - - - (1,569,531)

At 31 December 2019 113,876,394 979,410 54,012 5,999 450,657 2,077,367 117,443,839

Net book value

At 31 December 2019 1,025,925,436 5,617,122 16,707 2 115,934 706,069 1,032,381,270

At 31 December 2018 810,287,771 5,753,902 27,856 1,402 100,878 1,161,875 817,333,684

The net book value of land and buildings may be further analysed as follows:

2019 As restated 2018
€ €

Land and Housing 1,025,925,436 810,287,771

Freehold property 5,617,122 5,753,902

1,031,542,558 816,041,673
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Notes to the financial statements for the financial year ended 31 December 2019 (continued)

13. Stocks

2019 2018
€ €

Finished goods and goods for resale 169,149 186,811

169,149 186,811

14. Debtors

2019 2018
€ €

Trade debtors 7,653,408 5,714,617

Prepayments 912,559 539,866

Accrued income 2,441,144 2,705,119

11,007,111 8,959,602

Included within debtor balances are provisions in respect of bad debts for €420,097 (2018: €344,023).

15. Cash and cash equivalents

2019 2018
€ €

Cash at bank and in hand 19,285,926 21,825,335

19,285,926 21,825,335

16. Creditors: Amounts falling due within one year

2019 2018
€ €

Loans owed to credit institutions 10,743,365 6,836,478

Trade creditors 1,514,075 1,605,357

Taxation and social insurance 2,195,813 898,518

Accruals 9,965,550 5,492,317

Deferred income 4,234,460 1,674,924

28,653,263 16,507,594
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Notes to the financial statements for the financial year ended 31 December 2019 (continued)

16. Creditors: Amounts falling due within one year (continued)

2019 2018
€ €

Other taxation and social insurance

PAYE/PRSI control 265,354 256,993

VAT control 1,920,970 627,589

RCT Control 9,489 13,936

2,195,813 898,518

Secured loans

Included within loans owned to credit institutions are amounts owing to the HFA and CALF of €10,352,768 (2018: €6,460,878). 
Housing loans provided by the HFA are secured by fixed charges on specific housing properties. The loans are subject to 
interest rates ranging from 1.75% to 4.85% (2018: 2% and 4.85%). The loans are due for repayment in monthly instalments 
ranging over a 30‑year period.

Also included within loans owed to credit institutions are loan facilities owing to Ulster Bank of €390,597 (2018: €375,600) for 
the purchase and fit out of Northbank House. Interest rates of 3.75% and 3.5% are charged on these facilities respectively. 
Ulster Bank hold a freehold first legal charge on Northbank House, 159‑161 Sheriff Street Upper, Dublin 1 as security over the 
loans. Further details of all charges on the assets of the company are registered with the Companies Registration Office and 
are available at www.cro.ie.

Trade and other creditors are payable at various dates over the coming months in accordance with the suppliers’ usual and 
customary credit terms.

Other taxes include social insurance repayable at various dates over the coming months in accordance with the applicable 
statutory provisions.

17. Creditors: Amounts falling due after more than one year

2019 As restated 2018
€ €

Loans owed to credit institutions 505,100,832 303,115,769

Government grants received 431,005,868 437,830,769

936,106,700 740,946,538

Secured loans

Included within loans owed to credit institutions are amounts owing to the HFA and CALF for €502,761,618 (2018: 
€300,392,164). Housing loans provided by the HFA are secured by fixed charges on specific housing properties. The loans 
are subject to interest rates ranging from 1.75% to 4.85% (2018: 2% and 4.85%). The loans are due for repayment in monthly 
instalments over a 30‑year period.

Also included within loans owed to credit institutions are loan facilities owing to Ulster Bank of €2,339,214 (2018: €2,723,605) 
for the purchase and fit out of Northbank House. Interest rates of 3.75% and 3.5% are charged on these facilities respectively. 
Ulster Bank hold a freehold first legal charge on Northbank House, 159‑161 Sheriff Street Upper, Dublin 1 as security over the 
loans. Further details of all charges on the assets of the company are registered with the Companies Registration Office and 
are available at www.cro.ie.
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Notes to the financial statements for the financial year ended 31 December 2019 (continued)

17. Creditors: Amounts falling due after more than one year (continued)

Government Grants

Government grants represent grants made to the company from CLSS and CAS schemes. No capital and interest repayments 
are required to be made on these grants, provided that the company continues to comply with certain specific requirements of 
the local authorities with regard to the properties for which housing has been provided. These grants are secured by specific 
charges on the company’s land and housing properties. €431,891,104 (2018: €440,306,227) represents grants to be released to 
income in future years, in accordance with the accounting policy on government grants.

18. Loans and debt analysis

Analysis of the maturity of loans is given below:

2019 2018
€ €

Amounts falling due within one year

Other loans 10,743,365 6,836,478

Amounts falling due 1-2 years

Other loans 21,784,265 13,305,823

Amounts falling due 2-5 years

Other loans 34,992,223 20,560,945

Amounts falling due after more than 5 years

Other loans 448,324,344 269,249,001

515,844,197 309,952,247

The following is an analysis of the anticipated contractual cash flows, including interest payable on HFA and CALF loans on 
an undiscounted basis. Interest is calculated on drawn debt held at 31 December 2019. The Interest on Debt is calculated by 
reference to the underlying loan agreement and the rate applicable at the balance sheet date.

Debt Interest  
on debt

Total

€ € €

For the financial year ended 31 December 2019

Due less than one year 10,743,365 10,313,749 21,057,114

Between one and two years 11,040,899 10,016,215 21,057,114

Between two and three years 11,346,923 9,710,191 21,057,114

Between three and five years 23,645,300 18,468,929 42,114,228

In five or more years 459,067,710 198,292,878 657,360,535

515,844,197 246,801,961 762,646,105
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Notes to the financial statements for the financial year ended 31 December 2019 (continued)

18. Loans and debt analysis (continued)

Debt Interest  
on debt

Total

€ € €

For the financial year ended 31 December 2018

Due less than one year 6,836,478 6,298,667 13,135,145

Between one and two years 6,469,345 6,101,070 12,570,415

Between two and three years 6,657,697 5,912,718 12,570,415

Between three and five years 13,903,248 11,237,582 25,140,830

In five or more years 276,085,479 121,125,657 397,211,136

309,952,247 150,675,694 460,627,941

19. Financial instruments

2019 2018
€ €

Financial assets

Cash at bank and in hand 19,285,926 21,825,335

Financial assets measured at amortised cost 7,653,408 5,714,617

26,939,334 27,539,952

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost (527,323,822) (317,049,921)

Financial assets measured at amortised cost comprise trade debtors.

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost comprise trade creditors, accruals and other loans owing within one year and in 
greater than one year.

20. Reserves

Designated reserve

The designated reserve is held for the long‑term maintenance of the company’s properties. The reserve has been reviewed by 
management as part of the long‑term company planning process and held at 2015 level, as this is seen as sufficient to meet 
future obligations when they fall due to maintain and repair existing housing assets.

Other restricted reserve

The other reserve represents donations of land to the company for the purpose of social housing needs. These lands were 
utilised in the construction of social housing in Galway and Cork.

Deferred amortisation reserve

The deferred amortisation reserve represents the credit arising from the FRS 102 adjustment on grant‑funded properties, offset 
by the depreciation on property assets. This reserve will reverse over time, with the exception of permanent timing differences. 
In 2019, it was €27.6 million (2018: €25.30million). The reserve is as a result of the adoption of FRS 102 accounting compliant 
policies. Historically, the company accounting policy did not amortise CLSS or CAS funding or property assets.
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Notes to the financial statements for the financial year ended 31 December 2019 (continued)

20. Reserves (continued)

Income and expenditure account

Includes all current and prior period retained surpluses and deficits.

21. Company status

The company is limited by guarantee and consequently does not have share capital. Each of the members is liable to 
contribute an amount not exceeding €1 towards the assets of the company in the event of liquidation.

22. Prior year adjustment

In 2019, it was noted that two schemes were recognised as property assets in 2008 with two corresponding mortgage loans. 
One property had a Capital Assistance Scheme (CAS) mortgage and the other a Capital Loan and Subsidy Scheme (CLSS) 
mortgage. The cost of the property assets and loans recognised in the financial statements totalled €3,033,382. Depreciation 
of €264,857 and amortisation of €557,924 was also recognised. These have now been adjusted.

These balances have been correctly restated in the Statement of Comprehensive Income and the Statement of Financial 
Positions in both 2018 and 2019.

23. Capital commitments

At 31 December 2019 the company had capital commitments as follows:

2019 2018
€ €

Contracted for but not provided in these financial statements 44,472,488 74,052,083

Committed to but not contracted or provided for in these 
financial statements

21,420,382 39,177,718

65,892,870 113,229,801

Capital commitments relate to purchase and development of land and housing properties and other fixed assets.

24. Pension commitments

The company operates a defined contribution pension scheme for all employees. The assets of the scheme are held separately 
to the assets of the company in an independently administered fund. Contributions to the scheme are charged to the Income 
and Expenditure Account, as they become payable. The charge for the period is shown in note 8 of the financial statements 
and at the period end there were unpaid contributions amounting to €Nil (2018: €Nil).

25. Commitments under operating lease

At 31 December 2019 the company had future minimum lease payments under non‑cancellable operating leases as follows:

2019 2018
€ €

Not later than 1 year 1,939,844 1,938,356

Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 7,759,376 7,753,424

Later than 5 years 21,329,010 23,265,077

Total 31,028,230 32,956,857
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Notes to the financial statements for the financial year ended 31 December 2019 (continued)

26. Comparative Information

Comparative information has been reclassified where necessary to conform to current year presentation.

27. Events since the year end

Impact of Coronavirus

Ireland is currently in the delay phase of the virus which is a strategy to slow down the spread of the virus. As a result of the 
social distancing guidelines, issued by the government during this time, Clúid Housing Association has closed its Dublin 
head office and regional offices to all but essential staff, with employees successfully implementing alternative working 
arrangements. The direct impact on the existing units in management has been reviewed and assessed as low, due to the 
nature of the business. The shutdown of construction sites and the uncertainty as to when they will reopen will have a major 
impact on the delivery and funding of new units. Clúid Housing Association is actively engaging with funders and developers 
to ensure development can be delivered once the government restrictions are lifted.

For the period of the shutdown, Clúid Housing Association has curtailed repairs to emergencies and only essential contacts 
between staff and tenants. The shutdown period will impact on expenditure, but this is expected to rebound once this phase 
has ended. Income is split evenly between government backed contracts and tenants’ rents, both of which are not at this point 
at risk. The business will strive to continue to operate normally, and it is envisaged that revenues and expenditure may be 
delayed but will not be materially impacted. Clúid Housing Association has assessed the impact on the liquidity of the business 
over the next nine months and is confident that its cash position is robust and able to withstand significant potential impacts. 

28. Contingent liabilities

A number of claims have been made against the company in respect of personal injury and property related matters arising 
from the ordinary course of business. The company, having taken appropriate legal advice is defending any claims made 
against it. Provision has been made for legal and professional fees incurred to date, in respect of these claims of €130,000 
(2018; €66,500), but not in respect of any claims made. Details of these contingent liabilities have not been included in the 
financial statements, as disclosure of same could be deemed prejudicial to the outcome of these legal cases.

29. Related party transactions

Roxborough Mews Management Company Limited is a related party of Clúid as Clúid owns 67% of the shares of the 
company. As at 31 December 2019 and 31 December 2018 Clúid was owed €1,825 by Roxborough Mews Management 
Company Limited.

In 2018, Paul Mooney was contracted to complete a piece of work for the company outside of his role as director. Fees 
amounting to €25,000 were incurred in respect of this, of which €9,000 was paid in 2019 (2018: €16,000). At the year end, €Nil 
(2018: €Nil) of these fees remained outstanding.

In 2019, after resigning as Chair of the Board of Directors, Fiona Barron was contracted to complete a piece of work for the 
company. Fees amounting to €3,690 were incurred in respect of this, of which none was paid in 2019 (2018: €Nil). At the year 
end, €3,690 (2018: €Nil) of these fees remained outstanding but not yet invoiced.

30. Approval of financial statements

The Board of Directors approved these financial statements for issue on 28 April 2020.
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Management information for the financial year ended 31 December 2019

Detailed profit and loss account for the financial year ended 31 December 2019

2019 2018
€ €

Other income 462,783 498,589

Turnover 46,488,713 39,382,360

Gross profit 46,951,496 39,880,949

Amortisation of government grants 12,579,266 11,972,617

Less: overheads

Administration expenses (43,259,289) (36,071,152)

Surplus/(deficit) on maintenance costs 314,862 (268,477)

Operating profit 16,586,335 15,513,937

Interest receivable 766 1,094

Interest payable (9,354,908) (6,489,921)

Profit for the financial year 7,232,193 9,025,110
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Schedule to the detailed accounts for the financial year ended 31 December 2019

2019 2018
€ €

Other operating income

Amortisation of government grants 12,579,266 11,972,617

12,579,266 11,972,617

2019 2018
€ €

Administration expenses

Staff salaries 9,340,324 7,979,417

Employer’s PRSI 1,046,506 848,499

Staff pension costs ‑ defined contribution schemes 566,352 457,661

Staff costs 227,474 242,503

Compensation for loss of office as employee 17,500 ‑

Staff training 209,603 217,533

Travel and subsistence 1,077,820 1,101,732

Development expenditure not recoverable 202,051 105,589

Postage and stationery 202,215 215,172

Telephone 186,354 272,747

Office equipment and maintenance 1,143,430 488,052

Publications and subscriptions 62,183 54,155

Professional and consultancy 1,344,096 672,345

Auditors’ remuneration 20,910 18,450

Bad debts ‑ rental debtors 71,904 (8,436)

Sundry expenses 217,768 154,319

Rent ‑ operating leases 40,478 39,420

Rent and rates 21,815 26,136

Light and heat 58,528 86,752

Insurances 904,145 799,981

Repairs, maintenance and scheme costs 9,958,074 8,220,408

Depreciation ‑ PPE and computers 808,818 829,986

Depreciation ‑ freehold property 136,780 136,715

Depreciation ‑ land and housing property 12,810,455 10,664,598

Loss on sale of tangible assets 458,912 334,549

Recruitment costs 139,347 83,263

Board expenses 10,200 19,892

Meeting room hire 35,427 34,702

Lease repayments 1,939,820 1,975,012

43,259,289 36,071,152
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Schedule to the detailed accounts for the financial year ended 31 December 2019 (Continued)

2019 2018
€ €

(Surplus)/deficit on maintenance costs

Planned maintenance expenditure 1,271,860 1,855,434

Management and maintenance subsidies (1,586,722) (1,586,957)

(314,862) 268,477

2019 2018
€ €

Interest receivable

Bank interest receivable 766 1,094

766 1,094

2019 2018
€ €

Interest payable

Bank interest payable 141,914 153,453

Bank loan interest payable 9,212,994 6,336,468

9,354,908 6,489,921
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